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CHAPTER I
TOPOGRAPHY

Location

Robertson County, a central-eastern Texas county, one
of the two hundred fifty~-four counties of the nation's largest
state, was named for Sterling Clack Robertson,l who, first
as agent and later as impresario, worked diligently to secure
the grant which he and his associates cohtinued to claim on
the basis that the regicn granted to 4dustin for his third
colony was formerly claimed by the Nashville Company. Law-

suits resulted and financial losses occurred within the

2
company .

The county is bounded on the north by Falla and Lime-
stone Counties, on the east by Leon @ounty, on the south by
Brazos County, and on the west by Milam and Burleson
Counties. The Navasota River forms the natural boundary on
the east and the Brazos River winds its way along the western
edge. The old San Antonio Road, the most famous route of

pioneer and frontier travel, which is clder than Texas, and

1Inventory of the County Archives of Texas, Roberigo
County (Franklin), No. 198, Robertson County, Texas, 19&1,

Pa He
2Eugene C. Barker, The Life of Stephen ¥. Austln, bp. 339.
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which was the longitude and latitude tc the ploneers, forms
almost the entire southern boundary.

Located approximately one hundred fifty miles west of
the Loulsiana state line, Robertson County is only one

3
hundred forty miles from the Gulf of Mexico,.

Burface and Area

The county lies wholly within the Gulf Coastal Plain
and is on the edge of the East Texas timbered region. About
852 square miles, or 545,000 acras% make up one of the oldest
settled parts of the state.5

A level to rolling terrain, with sand and sandy loam in
the uplands, gives way to deep alluvial solls in the river
bottoms.6 About 15 per cent of the area was originally prai-
rie, the balance being timbered with hardwoods, principally
post oak, black jack oak, and hickory in the uplands, and pin
cak, post oak, elm, hackberry, cottonwood, ash, and pecan in
the bottom lands.

The county is divided into highlands and prairies, and
the area included between the Navasota and Brazos rivers has

a southeasterly slope in the direction of the rivers. A

U. 8. Department of Agriculture, Bureau of Solls, Soil
Survey of Roberison County, Iexas, p. 1.

b 5
Ibide, e 5 Ibid.

6
Inventory, op. git., p. 1.



mixed prairie and timbered belt, largely gently rolling in
topography, covers roughly that part of the county north of
Mud and North Mineral creeks. A greater part of the upland
country is made up of land that forms a gentle slope, al-
though there are portions that are quite flat. Too, in this
secticn there are occasional stretches of flat land and a
rnumber of high hills commanding views of the surrounding coun-
try. The flat and gently rolling surface of the timbered,
gandy helt is dotted with a number of iron-ore-capped knolls
and occasional hills, and a number of small prairies.

The most striking topographic features of the area
are the occasional prominent hills, like those east of
Hayes and south of Bald Prairie. Along the Houston and
Texas Central Railroad, which follows along the slope be-
twéen the Brazos bottom and the general upland, there is
a rise in the elevation from 300 feet above sea level at
Benchley, on the Southern county line, to 448 feet at
Bremond, near the Northern line. Crossing the upland
part of the area along the route of the International
and Great Northern Railroad, the elevation ranges from
310 feet at Hearne to W45 feet at Franklin, then drops
to 340 feet at Easterly and 314 at Lake. HMumford, in
the lower Brazos bottom, has an elevation of 265 feet,
while Valley Junction, 9 miles up stream, is 283 feet
above sea level,8

Dralinage
A numbef of important streams rising in the rather indis-
tinct divide between the drainage tracts of the Navasoté and

Brazos rivers have c¢ut deep hollows as they found their way

"Bureau of Soils, op. eif., p. 6.

8
ibid.
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to the main water course. This divide crosses the county
near the center and passes through Petteway, Grant Prairie,
Franklin, and Henry Prairie. The gently rolling and sometimes
quite hroken country, in the neighborhood of stream courses,
is closely related to the valley walls of & number of streams,
like Mud, Mineral, and Clear creeks, which are quite steep,
rising suddenly to the general upland level. Along the prin-
cipal creeks are bottoms of rich alluvial soil ranging in
width from very narrow strips to strips three fourths of a
mile in width. The broad bottom and gentle slope of Steele
Creek, which rises in Limestone County, provicdes hundreds of
acrés of rich farm land as it flows across the northeast cor-
ner of Robertson County. Deep gulllies, known as "dugouts,"
are formed by the upper courses of the streams and carry
water only a part of each year, while some stireams, like Cedar
Creek, are fed by springs and have running water always.

Where channels have been obstructed by material washed from
the upland, especially in their lower courses, the one-time
notable productive bottoms have become subject to regular
overflows. This problem has caused Mud and Walnut creeks to
bring about a depreciation in value within the last few years.
The general drainage of the upland is very good and there 1is
but a smsll amount of erosion other than a gradual advance of
the "dugouts,™ which, in many instances, ®nefit, especially,the

9
flat stretches by broadening tocthe drainage system.

91pid., p. 7.



Water, like air, is always in motion. Much that fell
as rain in early days ran off into rivers, doing a vast
amount of work. The three rivers of the county, for many,
many years, were cutiting across the hard rock faster than
the land rose, were making flood plains in the bottom lands,
and were taking to the sea materials for the sandbars along
the coast.

Draining the county are three rivers, the Navasota,
the Brazos, and the Little Brazos, which parallels the
Brazos at distances never exceeding 3 miles. These
streams, flowing through deep ravines in the uplands and
issuing upon almosit prairie country, are given to sudden
rises. Flood waters have again and again dropped rich
deposits of black soil in the valleys, until the fer-
t11ity of the bottom lands as become proverbial. Since
flood control methods have been adopted and malarial
conditions eliminated, the lowlands between the Brazos
and ILittle Brazos have naturally increased in valuve, 10
The Navasota bottom is uniformly flat, interrupted by

crossing streams and occasional sloughs, and is subject fo
frequent overflows. The Brazos bottom proper embraces all the
territory between the Big and Little Brazos rivers in addition
to an irregular strip east of Little Brazos. Near the south-
ern county line the bottom averages about five miles in width,
put is considerably narrower toward the northern line. The
width of this rich land in Robertson Counfy is very lrregular
and changes with the meandering course of the Brazos River as

it forms the western bourdary. Its width is about one-~half

10
Inventory, op. g¢il., p. 1.



mile at one place just west of Hammond, while in the bend where
Hardin's Slough meets the Big Brazos the bank has given way

and the river reaches within a quarter of a mile of the Little
Brazos,

With the exception of occasional, very small, rounded
hills and sloughs, the bottoms are almost flat. About midway
between the two streams there is a slight and almost imper-
ceptible ridge, which has been formed, as the land gently
sloped away from the river.12

Just west of Calvert and Wooten Wells the flat country
slopes gradually away from the Brazos bottom Bluff line to
blend in smoothly with the general uplands. Bvidently these
flat stretches were influenced by the waters of the Brazos

13

in the early stages of the river's development.

Climate

Climate was one of the important factors in influencing
the early settlers to make their homes in Robertson County.
They were able to fit their activities to the pattern of
climate, which in many ways determined their modes of living.

Ihe winters are generally mild. Light showers sometimes
fall, but zero weather is rather uncommon. The long summers
are not so warm as the latitude would indicate by reason of

the moderating breeze from the Gulf. The hot season, comprised

llBureau of Soils, op. git., p. 7.

127p14. 131p14.



of June, July, and August, has average monthly temperatures
of eightyQtwo degrees, eighty-five degrees, and eighty-four
degrees Fahrenheit, respectively. During the winter and
spring, "northers™ may be expected at any time. Winds from
the north accompany these sudden drops in temperature and
continue from two to five days, normally. Many times the
"oold snaps," coming with the northers damage the tﬁnder
1 .

vegetables and fruit, particularly the peach crop.

The unusually mild winter of 1906-07 caused the
peach trees to bud and even bloom as early as January,
with the result that subsequent freezes did great dam-
age both to the crop and to the trees. The crop was
practically cut off, while the vitality of the trees
was go impalred that many died later. Those on the
high~lying, and well-drained soils withstood the un-
favorable conditions best.

The early spring caused the old cotton stalks to
sprout, affording sustenance to early boll weevils.
The early planted erop was so injured and retarded by
the cold weather of April and May that much replanting
had to be done. Corn was not seriously injured. Such
unseasonable weather, however, is very rare. 15
Around February 21 is the average date for the last

killing frost 1n the early spring and about November 17 is
the first in the early fall. Crops in general are really
not damaged severely by the unexpected frost, but vegetation
has been killed ag late as the middle of April. Crops are
planted a bit earlier in the bottoms than in the uplands, in
the sandy uplands in particular. Most of the Irish potato

erop 1s planted in February, and corn may be planted any time

14 15
Ibid., p. 10. Ibid.



from the middle of February to the flrst of April. Cotton
planting is usually done as early as possible in the effort
to make a crop before the boll weevil becomes most active.
This early planting has become more pronounced since the ad-
vent of this pest. 4ny time from the tenth of April to the
middle of May is considered cotton planting time. The normal
climatic conditions are well sulited to cotton and it very
seldom happens that less than a fair crop is made on account
of unfavorable weather conditions. By the timely breaking up
of the crusts formed by the rains, by keeping the top soil
contimmously well muikched, and with frequent cultivations,
most crop injury can be lessened considerably.16

Rabeftson County has no distinct "wet" and "dry" seasons
as a whole, The average tendency is toward heaviest precipi-
tation in the spring with a slight upward turn in the autumn,
and with dips in the summer and winter.

The annual raiafall of about thirty-four inches, when
distributed uniformly, is adequate to meet the needs of all
crops. April and May are considered the months of heaviest
precipitation while June and Jul&, although with a fair aver-
age rainfall, are counted as a season of uncertain weather and
subject. to droughts. Corn crops are apt to be cut short when
dry weather comes during these months. Irish potatoes,planted

in the fall, can not be grown successfully on account of the

16
Ibid,



unevenly distributed rainfall during the season. Gulf clouds

are not indicative of good summer rains as the best rains gen-

erally come from the northeasf.17

17
Ibid.



CHAPTER Il
HISTOURICAL BACKGROUND

Spanish

As the Spanish explorers, soldiers, and missionaries
passed through the region between the Navasota and Brazos
rivers in 1776, on their way to establish the mlssions and
presidios in Bast Texas,lthey came in contact with tribes of
Tonkawas and Tawakonis. These friendly, semi-nomadic Indians
attadhed themselves %to the Spanish expedition after it had
crossed the Brazos, and before it reached the Tejas country
to the eask. After the expedition crossed the Brazos the
travelers turned to the north in order %o avoid a network of
streams. Thus, they found a course which led them over high
ground to the Navasota.z The route they followed became the
most important path of travel and was called El Camino
Real 3(The King's Highway), which has been in use for almost
a century and a half, This route of travel has changed
gradually to the north and to the south, beginning in the
1820's when Stephen F. Ausﬁin brought his first colonists

into Pexas from the coast.

1
carlos E. Castaneda, Qur Catholic Heritage in Iexas,
1T (1936), end map. '

2Inventory, op. git., p. 1. 3Ib;g.
L

Castaneda, op. git., end map.
10
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This portion of their trail now marks the southeast
boundary of Robertson County, and 1s proudly referred to as

the 014 San #ntonio Road.

Mexican and Anglo-American

Robertson County was approximately midway between Nacog-
doches and the important town of San Antonio de Bexar. Yet,
the Spanish CGovernment, seemingly, made little or no effort
to develop this region.

Immediately after Mexico won her independence from Spain
in 1821, a flood of #nglo-American colonists poured into this
new Texas. American colonmization met with the approval of the
Mexican authorities, but soon ended in a revolt which threw
off the Mexlcan sovereignty.

On April 15, 1825, Robert Leftwich, agent of a Tennessee
company, was granted permlssion to settle 800 families.é His
settlement was to be located, by contract in Saltlllo, in the
Brazos River basin and west of the Bexar-Nacogdoches road.7
The territory now included in Robertson County fell within his
grant.8 After months of bitter wrangling, adjustments within

presaric of the Texas grant.9 When Robertson made his first

5
The Texas Almanac for 1939-1940, p. 62.
6Barker, op. ¢it., p. 331. 7Ibid.

9

BInventory, op. cit., p. 2. Ibid., pp.336-58.



12

visit to the region in 1826, he found a squatter named Early.
Little is known of Early except that he stubbornly resisted
a1l efforts which affected his removal.lO Various conditions
delayed the colonization and created hard feelings, which were
caused by those various differences over the ownership of the
grant., The contract was handed back and forth between Austin
and Robertson, by the Mexican Government, until the very eve
of the Texas Revolut‘ion.ll While the ownership of the grant
was being disputed many colonists had settled in the lower
continuous stretch which was under debate. This poriion later
became Robertson County. Groups of four or five families would
make the long journey together and would bulld their houses
close together for protection against the Indians.12 Behind
the everlasting gualities of Robertson County today is the
story of these same people who suffered untold hardships and
bitter disappointments to build up our county. These early
Texans were dependent upon their neighbors, and necessity

drew the people close together. Families of these "neighbor-
hoods" regularly borrowed meat from each other. At that ftime
the colonists believed that meat could not be cured in this
section of the couniry and seldom tried 1t. There was a com-

pact that only one family at a time would butcher, and every

ioEugene C. Barker, ed., The Austin Papers, Part II,
p. 1304,
llBarker, Iife, op. git., p. 371.

laInvantory, op. ¢it., p. 2.
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one 1n the neighborheood would borrow meat from that family
until all the meat was gone. “hen a calf was killed by an-~
other famlly, and so on around the borrowlng circle.13 These
same neighbors helped build the houses in which the new set-
tlers would live, and in time of sickness or trouble the
neighboring colonists were constantly at their side. It was
this companionship and friendliness between the colonists
that broke the monotony and made life worth living for the
early Robertson County settlers.

Between the years of 1829 and 18h3, a group of Irish im-
migrants selected a wooded section for settlement just north
of the San Antonilo-Nacogdoches road. They chose the:wooded
land, which was very poor, in preference to the rich black
prairie 1apds on account of the timber which coﬁld be used in
bullding homes and fencing their land. The timber also af-
forded protection from the many roving tribes of unfriendly
Indians in this section of the state. This settlement, first
known as Staggers Polnt, and later as Benchley, was the first
within the present limits of Robertson County.lLt

In 1830, or 1831, the military post of Tenoxtitlan was
established on the Brazos River. It is believed to have been
established by convict-soldiers by the Mexican Government to

protect the frontier and encourage setitlement,

13Inventory, op. eit., p. 3o

1M“Qrigin of Names of Robertson County," Hearne Democrat,
April 9, 1936, p. 1.
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Mary Austin Holly, an early Texas historlan, locates
Fort Tenoxtitlan in this way:
Tenoxtitlan is a miiitary post and town established
on the right bank of the Brazos River, twelve miles above
the upper road leading from San Antonio to Nacogdoches,
fifteen miles below the mouth of the San Andres River
(Little River) and one hundred miles above San Felipe de
Austin. 15
For all the necessities of life the early settler was
completely dependent upon his own resources. Naturélly the
first concern was the building of a home, These homes were
generally simple log cabing. They were built for the most
part of logs, hand~sawed planks, or of whatever timber was
svailable. Frequently, the floor was the packed earth, while
other cabins were floored with slabs of timber, or pleces of
split logs with the faces roughly smoothed. The chimneys were
constructed of stones and mud, with mud serving as mortar. Oak
pins took the place of nails as they held firmly the timbers
6f colonists' rude cabins in place.16

&s a means of betler protecting themselves from the In-
dlang the cabins were bullt, guite often, in a circle or square.
Around each cabin the colonists erected a barricade, or outside
walls, which were from ten to twelve feet in height and with

the roof slanting wholly inward.l7 Almost every settlement had

15 N
Mattie Austin Hatcher, Letters of an Larly American
Traveler, Mary Ausiin Holly, p. 133. )
léInventory, op. cit., p. 3.

177ames T. De Shields, Cynthia Ann Parker, p. 10,
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a blockhouse or stockade. Strong houses were constructed by
the Dunn and Wheelock families, and Fort Parker, built by the
Parkers, was a combination stockade and blockhouse. Later
stockades were built at Fort Boggy and on Cobb's Prairie.l
Parker's Fort was the only blockhouse to be taken, according
to the records, but successful raids were made on the outlying
cabins. The tragedy which befellFort Parker was the result
of the depopulation of the region during the revolution.l

Robertson's colony originated with the Texas Assoclatiom
in Nashville, Tennessee, in 1822. By 1827, the Mexican govern-
ment had transferred the original contract, and extended the
boundaries until the grant was two hundred miles long and one
hundred miles wide. This area included all or part of thirty
present Texas counties: Bastrop, Bell, Bosque, Brazos, Brown,
Burleson, Burnet, Callahan, Comanche, Coryell, Fastland, Erath,
Falls, Hemilton, Hill, Hood, Jack, Johnson, Lampasas, Lee,
Limestone, Mclennan, Milam, Mills, Palo Pinto, Parker, Robert-
son, Somervell, Stephens, and Williamson. This grant was sec-
ond in size only 58 Stephen F. Austin's and part of the two
grants adjoining.

Tt is not definitely known when Robertscn's colony was

organized, as the Mexican municipality of Viesca, but as early

18Invent0ry, 20, Qij;_t’ Pe 3-

lgﬁe ShiEld.S, '@_‘Ec _C_i;t_a, ppa 12""199

geggg Handbook of Texas, pp. 488-489.
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_ 21
as 1830, there was an "ayuntamiento,™ or the governing board,

Various meetings called by the colonists preceded the revolu-
tion and delegates from Viesca were seated. In 1832, when the
San Felipe Convention met, Jared E. Groce, Joshua Hadly, and
William Robinson represented Viesca.geAt the Ceonsultation of
1835, where the relationship of Texas to Mexico was decided
and Provisional Government was created, J. G. W. Plerson,

J. L. Hood, Samuel T, Allen, A. G. Perry, J. W. Parker and
Alexander Thompson were representatives for Viesca.gB One of
the early acts of the Provisional Government changed the name
of the municipality of Viesca to Milam, in honor of Ben Milam
who was killed while leading the attack on San Antonio In the
latter part of 1835.2LF _

On March 1, 1836, the Constitutional Convention met at
Washington-on-the-Brazos, located about forty miles from San
Pelipe and a short distance from the ?resent town of Navasota.
Among the fifty-nine delegates who attended the sessions of
the convention were, Sterling C. Robertson and George Child-
ress, who represented Mil&m.gs

4dded to the many hardships connected with the Texas Revo-

Iutien in 1836, was the dire mass movement from Texss known

as the "Runaway Scrape.® With the sorrow and consternation

QlH. P. N. Gammel, Laws of Texag, p. 479.

%2Ipig., p. 479. 231big., p. 508.
2k

Ibid., p. looa. | 24914., p. 824,
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which the settlers received the successive announcements of
the fall of the Alamo, the retreat of General Houston, and
the Goliad Massacre, came the realization that the Mexicans
were almost upon them. The helpless women and children be=
gan to flee for their lives, abandohing homes with all that
they contained.

From Robbin's Ferry, in northeastern Madison County, over
the Trinity River, the San Antonio Road was crowded with women
and children and all the livestock they could manage, as they
fled before the advance of Santa Anna's army.26 Many sections
of the colony in which Roberitson had worked unceasingly to
combine the talenté of soldier, colonizer, and legislator,27
were almost depOpulated.28The settlements, weakened by the
revolution, were often targets for successful Indian raids.

The Battle of San Jacinto practically established the indepen-
dence of the Lone Star Republic and confirmed the Anglo-Ameri-
can dominance. The families who had fled, and many of whom had
despalred of seeing their homes again, and the discharge sol-
diers, returned to the abandonaiarea.ggAlthough Indian depre-~

dations had abated, soon after the Battle of San Jacinto, in

May, 1836, the Comanches made their historical raid on Parker's

261nventory, op. cit., p. 4. 27Ib de

281ne Texas Almanac for 1936, p. 12%.

9
Texas Almanac, 1939=40, op. cit., pp. 66-67.
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Fort. Most of the inhabitants were massacred and Cynthia Ann
Papker was carried away as & prison&r.30

one of the little known battles of Texas, history, The
curveyor's Fight, occurred 1n 1838, near Dawson, Navarro County,
which at that time was included in Robertson County. One of
the leading participants of the hattle was Joseph P. Jones,
who was killed in the skirmish. The Jones family had made the
trip from Illinois and settled in northeastern Milam County,
one of the first permanent settlements in Robertson's colony,
on the prairie that bears their name. Sallie Brimberry Jones
and her eight children lived to see Texas become a state,
When the mother died she was buried at Jones ?rairié, far from
the lonely grave of her hushand who fell g?ile defending the

small band of surveyors from the Indians.

creation and Organizatlon
Dn December 14, 1837, the Second Continental Congress of
the Republic of Texas created Robertson County out of Bexar,
Milam, and Nacogdoches Counties. Only a part of Robertson's
colony, and much land that had been included in his colonial
grant was included in the new county named for Sterling C.
Robertson. Congress chose the chief justice and directed him

to give ten days' public notice of an election for a county

30De Shields, op. glf., PP 12-15.,

31Marjorie Rogers, "Barly Texas Surveyors Viectims of
Massacre in 1838," Groesbeck Journal, December 23, 1926,
De 2
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seat. The county was also attached to the Milam Senatorial
District by the same act of creation and set forth that it
was entitled tone representative in Congress. A schedule of
court terms was established after the county was placed in
the third judicial district. County court was to be held
on the third Mondays of February, May, August, and November;
district court would convene next succeeding fourth Monday
in April and October.32

There is no record of the first election, but county of-
ficials began %o file their bonds in March, 1838. Alanson
Hardy and Robert Henry were chosen by popular electlons as
justices of the peace, and Harrison Owen was chosen as county
clerk and recorder. The "high sheriff" was John D. Smith,
and William C. Watson was named district clerk. BREarlier,
Congress had chosen the following officers: Francis Slaughter,
Chief Justice; A. W. Cooke; County Surveyor; Thomas Dillard,
President of the Board of Land Commissioners; A. L. McCoy,
Clerk of the Board of Land Commlissioners and Register of the
Land Office; and Alanson Hardy, Postmaster at Navasota. This
was the first post office in Robertson County. In November,
1838, John R. Hardy was appeinted by the county court to

assess the county for the years of 1838 and 1839.33

32
Gemmel, Laws, I, op. ¢lt., p. 1398.

33
Inventory, op. ¢it., ps 5.



A frontier company of minute men was organized in
1839. It was the duty of this organization to gﬁaré the
settlements lying north of the 8an Antonlo-Nacogdoches Road,
and between the Brazos and the Navasota rivers., The company
had its headquarters at Franklin and was commanded by hli
Chandler. Other units of militia were organized along the
frontier at approximately the same time and some new block-
houses were erected, among them Fort Boggy, in present Leon
county.3h |

The embryonic character of the county administrative
bearing and its thorough relation to the community in the
spring of 1840, is illustrated by first county clerk, Harri-
son Owen, when he was unable to issue a license to a couple
who wanted to elope, until the cows came home. Owen could

not gain access to the courthouse because the kéy to that

building had been used as a clapper in a calf's bell.

Boundaries
The first officers of Robertson County had jurisdiction
over the vast territory from which all or parts of seventeen
other present-day countles have been created. The original

boundariecs were set forth by Congress:

3§W; D. Wood, "Sketch of the Barly Settlement of Leon
County, Its Organization, and Some of the Early Settlerséz

Scuthwegtern Historical éuarteglx, IV (1900-1901), 205-2

35
Inventory, on. cilt., p. 5,
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«++ the line beginning on the Brazos Hiver, at the

county line of the County of Washington, and running

on thet line easterly to the Trinity River; thence

due west to the Brazos River; thence down that river

to the beginning point. 36

On January 30, 1841, the first change in the Robertson
County boundary came with the creation of the present Brazos
County, which was first called Navasota. The creation took
away from Robertson County a small portion of land above the
Ban Antonio Road and just east of the Brazos River and fixed
the present southern line of Robertson County at that point%7

Leon County was created March 17, 1846, and a large
section of Hobertison County's original territory was removed

3

from the southern part. Three days later EallasJCounty was
created and this took away a large tract from the northeast

3%

corner.
41

Limestone Countyuoand Navarro County were created from
Rohertson County on April 11, 1846, and the present bounda-
ries on that day were fixed as follows:

Beginning con the northeast corner of Brazos Céunty
on the Brazos River; thence up sald river twenty-five
hundred varas, above the northwest corner of a survey
made for Jacob Welch, as represented on the county map
made for Robertson County; thence down sald river to the
line of Brazos; and thence with said line to the point

of beginning on the Brazos. L2

36Gammel, I, op. git., p. 1398.
37Gammel, II, p. 550. B1pid., p. 1314,
39 _ . L0 .

Ipid., p. 1332. Ibid., p. 1378.
41 Lg

Ibid., p. 1438. Ibid., p. 1366,
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County Seats and Courthouses

Franklin, a site about one and one-half miles southwest
of the present fown of Franklinrand now referred to as (ld
Franklin, was the choice of the voters in the first election
for a county seat.u3 William Love provided the house for a
temporary courthouse. Leander Harl was awarded a contract,
oa June 8, 1838, to bulld a courthouse;45 however, in Feb~
ruary of the next year the cournty court ordered that suit be
brought against him for fzilure fto carry out the terms of his
agreement.hé The building wags completed by George W. ox he-
cause Harl had éied,h and the county accepted it on August
17, 1839. This two-room structure "of good strong timber,"
twenty feet wide, twenty-eight feet long, and about elghteen
feet high was Robertson County's first courthouse.

On October 5, 1850, by a two-thirds vote of the people

the county seat was moved from Franklin to Wheelock. All the

43

Probate Minutes, Vol. 4, p. 5, entry 187.
Ly

Ibid., p. 2k,
45

Bond Book, Vol., 1, p. 38, in Official Bond Record,
entry 103,

46

Probate Minutes, Vol. A, pp. 24-25, entry 187,
47

Bond Book, Vol. 1, p. 20, entry 105.
4.8 |

Ibig., p' 28.
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county offices were ordered to move into the new county seat
as quickly as possible and Wheelock was the setting for the
November term of court.u9 In the summer of 1851, bids for the
construction of a courthouse were ordered,goand in November
the specifications for a two-story, wooden bullding, with an
outside stairway, were approved by the commissioners. '

The building plans submitted by A. L. Brigance were not

2
> Another year rolled along before

approved until May 1852,
the courthouse was accepted, on August 15, 1853, almost three
years after the county government had been moved to Wheelock.
The new building did not meet with the approval of the commis~
sioners 80 they deducted sixty-five dollars from the contract
price, "for falling to place the ballastrade around Said Roof,"
required the contractor to continue painting the roof and
stipulated that should it leak, he was %o produce a "good and
Substancial® new one. In February 1854, Brigance was or-
dered to improve the roof. The reason was not given but he
had to raise it ™in proportion to the size of gaid Court
House ™

The congtruction of a courthouse did not give permanence

to the county seat.

thounty Court Book of County Records, Vol. BC, p. 68
in Commissioners Court Minutes, entry 1.

SOIbid., p. 199. oL

52 53

Ibid., p. 203.
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On the very day that the commissioners entered
their order accepting the new courthouse they announced
the results of an election held a few days earlier, at
which the voters had named the center of the county as
thelr choice for a seat of government.Sh
Four commissioners were appointed by the court to in-

vestigate the suitability of the people's choice for a town
site. In case it did not meet with the approval of the come~
missioners, they were to choose one or two other places with-
in five miles of the center and to do what they could toward
procuring donaticns from the landowners. County archives

and offices must remain at Wheelock until guarters right for
the occasion could be provided elsewhere.55 The calm attitude
of the county fathers evidenced in this last order seems to
have been particularly well-advised, for three years passed
before the will of the people in the matter of this county
seat change was gratified.

The appointed commissioners submitted their report and
stated that they had chosen a site on the Francis Slauter
headright, and aboutl one and one-half miles southeast of the
center of the county, "on the head of Cedar Creek.™ On
November 22, 1853, the county court accepted the report and

at the same time declared the site the new county seat,"so

socn as the legislature passes an act confirming the same "

5k
Ibid., p. 275,

55
Ibid., p. 285.
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The same commissioners also recommended that the people pe~
tition the legislature for such confirmation.

The legislature passed an act on February 13, 185%, "to
Locate the Seat of Justice in the County of Robertson.” The
chief Justice was directed to order an election, to declaré
any place within five miles of the center of the county
chosen by the majority of the voters tc be the county seat.
The new seat must be called Owensville, and as socn as the
necessary buildings were erected the county offices and

57

courts must be moved from Wheelock, but not before.”” In No-
vemher 1854, the county court directed the chief justice to
ohtain from the district”surveyor of the Robertson Land
District a ceptificate showing the "precise centerY of the
county. The county court was still meeting at Wheelock but
wished to locate the county seat, soon, "permanently." Three
comnissioners were appointed to select two or more sites
within five miles of the center and procure “the best dona=-
tions they can and report the Same to the Chief Justice In-
stanter.“58 This report has not been found, but on April 7,

1855, an election was held, and David H. Love donated a site

for the county sealt "on the Waters of Walrmut Creek,.,®

6
’ Ibid., p. 258. 57Gammel, Laws, III, 1553,

5800unty Court Records, op., ¢it., pp. 302-303.

59
Ibid., pp. 332-333.
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The commissioners drew up a contract with A. L, Brigance,
in Novemher 1855, with the specifications calling for a two-
story wooden building with outside stairway. This time the
building was to be forty feet square, and ™to be set on good
sound oak blocks." The doors were to be fitted 2ith "good
locks and fastenings," and must be "well painted roof & all."
The contract called for the completion of the courthouse by
dugust 1, 1856, and Brigance was to recelve as compensation
cne town lot in Owensville and $2,750.61. Brigance met the
deadline; the building was accepted on August 5, and orders
were given for the county offices to move into thelr new build-~
ings.6Q The county court held its final meeting at Wheelock on
August 19, 185661but held a special term in the new courthouse
on August 28.

Owensville remained the county seat until July 12, 1870,
when an act of legislature moved the seat to Calvert,62 and
on August 1, of that year, the county court held its first
session in the new county seat. For almost ten years the
county seat remalined at Calvert, but no courthouse was ever

built there. For a time offices were rented, and at one time

& building was leased by the year for seventy-five dollars

6Ozbid., p. 335.

6lCounty Court Records, Vol. D-1, pp. 2@—25, 32-36,

entry l.

62
Gammel, Laws, VI, p. 205.
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per month, Finally, a two-story house fronting on Main
Street was obtained by the county and came to be known as
the Court House Building. The voters, in 1874, considered
the possibility of removing the county seat to Englewood,
but apparently voted to remain at Calvert, for on June 1,
1875, a contest of the election was dismissed by the county
court. The court continued to meet at Calvert until the
final meeting, on February 25, 1880,63 which ended sessions
in that county seat. _

On December 16, 1879, Calvert lost the county seat to
Horgan, through an election. Morgan was a development of the
Texas Land Company, on the International and Great Horthern
Ra:llroazxd.él+ On February 9, 1880, the court ordered that the
plans of the city of Morgan, as presented by the Texas Land
Company, be authorized to name the streets. The commissioners
appointed Overall, a captain and H, Holdeman as an assistant,
on December 29, to make the arrangements for a courthouse at
Morgan., This same committee was to receive all donations made
to the county; to see that the town was properly laid offy
and "report the best means of removing the records of the

6
court to Morgan.™ > In the meanwhile it was discovered that

631nventory, op. cit., p. 9.
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there was already a post office named Morgan in Tezas, so
the commissioners renamed the new county seat Franklin.66
The recordés were moved, early in March 1880, to a "frame
building 25 x 100 feet® in Franklin. On March 8, 1880, the
commissioners court held ite first meeting at the new site.
About one year later the plans of F. E. Ruffini, Austin
architect, for a $30,000.00 courthouse were accepted and

J. B. Smith was awarded the contract. On January 7, 1882,

the bullding was accepted and still serves the county, al-

though it has been extensively remodeled,




CHAPTER III
MILITARY CONTRIBUTION AFTER STATEHCOD

Civil War

The Civil War hurt Texas perhaps less than any other
Confederate 3tate. It was farthest from the center of actual
fighting; 1t was the youngest of the seceding states; and it
had relatively few slaves. In that day of poorly developed
transportation lines, Texas was more truly western than
southern,

Although Robertson County, in east-central Texas, was
far removed geographically from the area of the most serious
fighting of the war, the county, nevertheless, organized and
equipped two companies when Texas seceded from the Union. One
company wag commanded by William P. Townsend, the other by
B, Brooks. These two companies were active in many important
battles of the Civil War.

in adgéition to the soldiers and officers furnished by
Robertson County to the cause of the South, the county also
supplied to the armies of the Confederacy, money, uniforms,
and provisions throughout the course of the conflict. At
home funds were raised for the support of destitute families
of soldiers, and particularly for the widows and orphans of
men killed in service., Cotton cards were shipped in, and

29
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home spun jeans were produced locally. Surplus cloth from
the State Penitentiary was brought to the county at various
times where it was made into clothing. A small factory was
set up near Wheelock where coarse clothing was manufactured
and furnished to the soldiers.

During the war, and as his own contribution, Samuel B,
Wheelock opened his home to the Confederate soldiers for
shelter and protection.2 This, in a manner, was comparable
to the present United Service Organization (USO).

Today, December, 1953, Hobertson County proudly claims
one of the five surviving Civil War veterans. He is Walter
G. Williams, Franklin, Texas "First Citizen," who recently
celebrated his 111lth birthday.

Walter Williams joined Company C of the fifth
cavalry, General John B. Hood's Texas Brigade, sta-
tioned then at Corinth, Mississippi, when he was
twenty-two years old; he became foragemaster and
found it particularly hard to supply the troops in
the hard pressed Confederacy. 3
Williams and a group of other soldiers ambushed some

Yankees one morning and killed about one mndred. This was

the only time he was in battle. OCf the Civil War he says:

We quit just five minutes too early. They (the
Union) were getting ready to stack arms, and we beat

llnventory, op. ¢it., p. 10,
2Jacquelyn Allison Leonard, "Tales of the Runaway
Scrape," ihe Junior Historian, VIII (November, 19%7), 5.

"Col. Walter G, Williams is now 111," The Franklin
Texan , November 19, 1953, p. 1.
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them to it, we didn't get beat, we were just

starved out. 4

Colonel Williams, who received his title from Governor
Shivers in a 1950 ceremony, was born November 1k, 18k2, in
Itwamba County, Mississippl.

At 1k, he left his dad's farm and struck out to

Texas on hls own, first settling with friends of the

family in Brazos County then moving to his own farm

at Franklin. %

He now lives with his second wife on & sixty-acre farm
where he has lived most of his fifty-eight years of married
life. They are living in the original house, which is stand-

ing up under the years as well as he.

Spanish-&merican War

The part played by Texas in the Spanish-fmerican War
will long be remembered, for the Roosevelt Rough Riders, who
contributed no little to the freeing of Cuba, were a hand
picked cavalry regiment made up partly of Texas Rangers. More-
over, nearness to Cuba, togéther with water transportation,
made it relatively easy to send soldiers and material supplies.

When war became inevitable, Robertson County, in re-
sponse to her call to the colors, sent the finest men of that

day. Some of the men who went into service were: Dink Adkins,

ibid.,
-

]
Winston Bode, "11ll Candles on Cake for 'Colonel'
Williams!", The Houston Press, November 11, 1953, p. l.
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Phil Teeling, Will Pryor, Albert McNeel, all from Hearne,

and from the other parts of the county came Louls Cashmire,
R, L, Morris, the father of John Grace and many, many others.,
Hegrne claims less than one half dozen surviving velerans
today. J. W. Horlock, originally from Grimes County, has
made his home in Hearne for a greater part of the time since
ne left the service.

The volunteers were mustered in, in Houston and trained
for a period of time in Navasota. In their period of service,
which lasted approximately cne year, the leader of their regi-
ment wss a colonel by the name of Boone and their captain
was Tom Buffington.

Louls Cashmire, a lieutenant in the Spanish-imerican War,
was captaln of the State Militia which was stationed in Cal-
vert for a time after the conflict with Spain. The militis
had no trouble in securing men, as the men vwho were ineligl-
ble for service in 1898, because they were fco young, were

anxious to be in military service.

6

Fred L. Wood, 405 Brenken Street, Hearne, Texas, per-
sonal interview.

J. W. Horlock, 308 Brenken Street, Hearne, Texas, per-
scnal interview.



CHAPYER IV
SOCTIAL HISTORY

Elements of Population
Comparatively wealthy planters from Louisiana, Mississ-
ippi, and Alabama, who had brought along their slaves, were
numbered along with the Irish immigrants and their families
from the frontlers of Arkansas, Temnessee, and Kentucky who
followed Sterling C. Robertson into this part of the country
1 .
soon after the creation of Tobertson County. One of the
visitors to this region wroted
Emigpation has been immense during the last year,
consisting of a highly valuable class of citizens, who
not only possess the means of developing the resources
of the soil but whose moral worth is happlily calculated
to make a favorable impression on society. 2
With the increasing importance of cotion raising, more
slaves were imported, and by 1858, there were almost as many
Hegro residents as white. The outcome was that during the

Aecenstruction Days there were political diff'iculties as well

as economic., In 1869, 1,169 Negro voters registered in Robert-

son County, while only 71% white men registered. %o keep order,

police stations were set up in Franklin, Calvert and Cwensville.

After the end of the Davis regime and the end of Reconstruction,

Ypureau of Solls, op. cit., pp. 7-8.

EInventhy, cp, cit., p. 1k,
33
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most of the Negroes returred to the plantations as tenant
farmers. In the meantime, a number of foreigners had come
in and set up a system of smaller farms worked by the
OWNETS .

By 1887, of the 23,021 residents, 600 were Germans, 465
Poles, and 11,008 Negroes. "They had come with the rail-
roads.%

For many years Benchley continued to be predominantly
Irish. Hexican immigrants who came about 1871 concentrated
largely at H&mmond.5 In the latter 1870's most of the Poles
established themselves in the town of Bremond on the northern
boundary of the county.6 New Baden was colonized by German
immigrants, setiled by the Texas Land and Immigration Com-
pany, in 1881. Many of the social customs and other charac-
teristics of their respective fatherland have heen retained

7

by the residents in these communities.

Churches and Schools
The county commissioners, in one of the early acts, set

aslde land for the establishument of a public schoel, to be

3 ‘ 4
Ibid. Ibid.

"Origin of Names," op. g¢it., p. 1.

5
6
Inventory, op. ¢it., p. 15,

"Origin of Names,® op. cit., p. 1.



35

called Franklin Academy.8 .This move followed the Act of the

Texas Congress which set apart for each county three leagues

of land from the public domain "for the purpose of estabe

lishing a primery school or an academy.“9 Puring the next

year an extra league of land was added to each county'ts

school land apportionment by an &ct of Congress;lOThe value

of the land was very low and the plan failed because of its

inability to provide sufficient funds. In the records of

the county there is no further mention of the Franklin Academy,

or of school districts, or teachers. Probably, the first edu-

cators of the county were circuit-riding preachers who led

the ¢ld "field schools.“11 hs late as 1850, it was remarked:
+e+3 Very large majority of the rising generation of
middle Texas...are entirely destitute of school in-
struction... in many of our counties, common schools
cannct be found. In many neighborhoods the Sabbath
schoel is the only means of instruction afforded. 12
Robert Crawford, a Methodist from South Carolina who had

fought at San Jacinto, was one of the first ministers in

Fobertson County. The "old Ireland Church," a log structure,

built by the Irish settlers of Benehley, who were Presbyterians,

%Bona Book, Vol. I, p. 47.

9Gammel, Laws of Texas, II, 13k, ey d, p. 320.

1l
Prederick Eby, The Development of Education in fexas,

12
Inventory, gop. cit., p. 17.
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was probably the first heouse of worship in the county. The
first pastor of this chureh was named Fullenwider, and of
him 1t is said:

The minister did not only preach but worked
wheresoever he was needed, helping to 'clear the land,
work the crops, nursing the sick, and burying the
dead.' He was a widely known Indian fighter, and once
had to whip a man before he could convert him, 13
lhe second church built in this community, and possibly

in the county, was erected to be used as a schoolhouse, and
was called Red Top. In this building teachers "tutored a
child as long as he cared o attend school as grades were
unknown at that time."lLF

Chief Justice A. L. Brigance was ordered by the commig~
sioners, in 1856 to deed two county lots in Owensville "for
school purpose,” and a description of the county published
in 1858, mentions a "female academy™ which was then under
construction.

Within a few years after the Civil War there were seven
or eight schools in various parts of the county. There were
also four churches, Presbyterian, Baptist, Methodist, and
Christian. On May 21, 1867, the Guarterly Conference of the

Methodist Episcopsl Church South, on the Cwensville circult,

requested a donation of two lots in Owensville. The request

13 14
“"Origin of Names," op. cit., p.8. Ibig.

15

Inventory, op.citi, p.l7.



37

was granted and the settlers now owned land on which they
could erect a church and parscnage. The Hearne Station
Baptist Church was organized on April 18, 1869.16 During the
1870's a number of churches came into being. The commis-
sioners court records mention the White BRock Church, May 27,
1873;l7the Freedman's Church, March, 187h;180happel Hill and
Mount Vernon Churches, July, 13?#;19E1m Church, 1876;20 and
Hickory Grove Church, 1877.21 &t this time there were four
churcies in Calvert.

The Polish parish was organized at Bremond in 1876, by
Tather Mosiewlcz, who, for a time, served the church from
Marlin, in Falls County. Later the settlers felt the need
of a full-time leader; so they subscribed money to bring
Peter Litwora, a priest, from Poland.22

By 1880 there were three Protestant churches and a Roman

Catholie Church for white residents in Hearne, and three

17
Commissioners Court Minutes, Day Book, Vol, II, p. k.

e omissioners Court Minutes, Day Book, Vol. II, p. 84,

Y91big., p. 123.

20
Commissioners Court Minutes, Minutes County Court,
Robertson County, Vol. III, p. 95.

2rpig., p. 178.

22
Inventory, opn. ¢it., p. 18.
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churches for the HNegroes. FEnglewocod had one church building,
shared by the Baptist and Methodist, and a good school., Hearne
had twoc schools by the early 1880's. A lot in the new county
seat was given to the Methodist Episcopal Church on June 22,
1880. The Roman Catholics and the leading Protestant de-
nominations had organized churches and bullt houses of wor-
ship in the county by 1882, and regular religious services
were being held by Jewish residents of Calvert.23

In the early elghties the Staﬁe Free School Fund was
apportioned to a scholastic population of 3,075 in Robertson
County, and public schools were established for white and
Negro children in proportion to their numbers. There were
a number of private schog&s of primary grade, and at least

one private high school, The office of county school super-
2

intendent of public instruction was set up in 1892,

flealth
When the epldemic of yellow fever was raging through the
South in the early 1870's, Calvert was almost depopulated,
HMogt of the settlers left when it was discovered that a travel-
ing palnter had died from the disease in a room in the Bailey
Bulilding. A%t this time most of the inhabitants believed the

fever to be directly contaglous, and the entire town was

2 4 2
szid., b, 18, Toig.

ibid.
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quarsntined. Trains were not allowed to stop and the windows
of all coaches were ftightly closed until all cars had passed
beyoné the ecity limits. DBetween three and four hundred per-

song died from yeliow fever,ésimce there was no effective
2

fel

remedy or treatment for it.

Soon after this scourge had passed,the development of
several mineral springs led to the establishment of the new
village of Wooten Wells, three miles west of Bremond, as a
health resort. About the same time the waters of the Cverall
mineral wells at Franklin were being marketed.gT

The first county physician, a man named McDonnell, was
appointed by the county commissioners in 1871. It was his
duty "to look after the sick paupers not otherwise provided
for."28

The river lands, for years, were considered unhealthful,
and alcng the rivers and creeks, in the summer and fall, ma-
larial fever attacks were more or less frequent. These epl-

demlcs were not always severe, and in 1909, a survey of the

county gave the following report:

26

Rogers, "Calvert," op. cit., p. 583.
27

Inventory, op. ¢it., p. 19.
28

Commisgsiocners Court Minutes, 1863 to 1871, Vol. C.,
pp. W19-420,
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Since the greater part has been put under cul-
tivation, the sloughs have largely dried up, and
this coupled with the securement of excellent ar-
tesian water, has improved the conditions until the
pottor land is about as healthful as the upland. 29

Hewspspers

The Weekly Central Texam at Bremond and The Iribune at

Calvert were established in 1870, and were the first news-
papers in the county. A4lthough both publicatlions were
short-lived, dobertson County has never been without a news-
paper since that time. AllL present-day newspapers are

¢
weeklies.3 They are the Bremond Press, the galvert Iribune,

the Uranklin Texsn, and the Hearne Pemocrat.

Disasters

Between 1870 and 1873, Calvert was several times almost
destroyed by fire. The county commissioners, in July, 1873,
declared that the furniture and stationery that had been de-
st:oyed by fire, must be replaced. And at the same time they
voted to pay J. C. Parnell five dollars for his having guarded
the county records in the last fire. The commissioners’
records for June 1, 1871 to May 27, 18683, have not been found
and it 1s presumed that they were burned in one of the fires,

although it is no established fact. After the frame bulldings

29
Soil Survey, op. cit., p. 8.

30

Inventory, op. cit., p. 18.
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in Calvert burned, most of them were replaced by brick
structures.

In the early 1890's, almost an entire block of Bremond's
business section was destroyed by fire. Here, too, brick
buildings have replaced the frame structures which burned,.

Floods have brought heavy losses to the people of Robert-
son County, and the study of means of prevention has been a
task of growing importance.Bl The Brazocs, the largest river
in Texas, in 1899, overflowed its banks and brought to the
people of the Brazos bottom losses which were almost ines-
timable,.

In the mid-summer when the "flood of '99" did so much
damage, there was a period of about ten hours, or from seven
o'eclock in the evening until five o'clock the next morning,
that nine and five-eights inches of rain fell on the southern
part of Robertson County. There was only one life losi, but
scores of persons were rescued from the tops of trees, from
house tops, gins and other places of safety. The waters of
Big Brazos and Little Brazos met and covered the entire val-

ley, with the exception of Mumford, which was located on high

ground.
Mumerous "near tragedies®™ occurred as the people at-

tempted rescue work in meke-shift boats. In some instances

large horse-troughs were used as row-boats.

31
Inventory, op. ¢it., p. 20.



L2

For a period of thirty days there were no trains into
Hearne. The tracks hadé been washed out and sectlions were
scattered for miles down the fiver. The little H & B V was
practlcally wiped out, and was never of much more service.

ot only the raillroads sﬁffered from the flood, but the
uplands to the east of Hearne were filled with deep gorge-
like streams and the dirt roads were rendered impassable when
most of the bridges went along with the water of the Brazos.

There have been other floods on the Brazos, especimlly
in the early 1900's, but there has never been as much damage

to the county as in the "flocd of '99.M



CHAPTER ¥V
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

Farmlng

The first settlers lived in a primitive manner.
Situated far from markets, they grew for home use
small patches of potatoes, corn, and vegetables, and
raised a little stock. There was a tendency to set-
tle in communities for the advantages of mutual protec-
tion against the Indians. Generally the most convenlent
lands were cultivated. The sandy timbered solls were
preferred for vegetables, while the 'red lands,'. . .were
selected for corn. Prairie land was not so generally
sought after, as it was considered harder to cultivate
and not so productive., It was soon learned that hogs
and cattle could be successfully raised with little at-
tention on the timber ranges and on the prairies,
stock raising became the dominant industry among the
early settlers, Steers were driven to Houston, where
they sold for about $1 per hundred pounds. Settlers
were not slow in recognizing the adaptability of the
soils to cotton, and its cultivation began in the late
thirties, slave owners belng among the first to take it.
The establishment of a cotton gin at Wheeloeck in 1839,
properly speaking, marks the beginning agriculture in
Robertson County. The production of cotton was quite
limited at first, only about 429 bales belng produced
as late as 1849. The Brazos boitom soils were among
the first to be used for cultivation of cotton. The
first crops were hauled to the Trinity River and vafted
to Galveston., Agriculture made very little headway be~
fore 1845, on account of hostilities with Mexico. Oats
were introguced in the Wheelock neighborhood about 1845,
Wheat was later introduced and made some good yields on
the prairies and ‘red lands,' but owing to the absence
of mills and a general belief that climatic and soll con-
ditions were unsuited to it, the crop has never found
much favor. 1

1
Scils Survey, gp. git., p. 20.
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The most destructive cotton pest in the history of the
county has been the hoil weevil. The year 1903 1s commonly
referred to as the "boll weevil " year,when large flelds
failed to produce enough to warrant picking. This cotton
failure caused a serious depression in the area. This pest
compelled farmers to turn their attention to diversification
and to better methods of soll management.

During the earlier years of the ravages of the boll
weevil the large number of deserted houses gave evidence of
the uneasiness that existed.

In the efforts to meet the ravages of the boll
weevil the farmers of Robertson County have become im-
bued with a new spirit and are generally working out
better methods and enlarging the scope of agriculture,
When 1t is considered that there is great room for soil
improvement and restoration through rotation and the use
of vegetable manures, that susceptibility to drought can
be appreciably reduced by deeper preparation and shallow
cultivation, and that diversified farming is yet in 1ts
infancy, it becomes quite evident that there is good op-
portunity for a much greater agricultural development in
this county. PFruit and truck growing, particularly the
production of early Irish potatces, sweet potatoes, to-
matoes, and a great variety of vegetables, can be success-
fully carried on in conjunction with general farming, and
to a certain extent with stock raising, over a large por-
tion of this area. The great variety of soils and the
screat variety of crops to which these soils are adapted,
coupled with the low price of land, makes the county one
of the most desirahble of the eastern Texas counties to
the man of moderate means who desires to engage in di-
versified farming. It is easy to make a good living
here; and there are excellent opporfunities to make
money. 2

The farms in Robertson County varied in sizes. ©Some of

the upland farms were small while others contained as many as

Lbid.
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2,000 acres, or more. The farms in the Brazos bottom were
generally large; many contained more than a thousand acres.

The typical Robertson County land-owner and raiser of
crops was a slave-owning planter. Throughout the Brazos
bottom the plantation was the great center of labor and in-
gustry.

In silze, the plantation ranged from a few hundred acres
to a thousand or more. The owner lived in the big house, and
rﬁled, in one way or another, all those who lived on his
land.

Behind the big house, or along the turn-rows, were the
quarters for the slaves who tilled the fields. The quariers
consisted of one-rocm or two-room cabins. Hen, women, and
children worked in the fields from dawn till twilight. They
received nc pay, but received fcod and clothing, and some
planters allowed the slaves to cultivate small plots for their
own use,

Cotton ralsing was the inevitable pursuit of the people
who came to Robertson County from the deep South. As soon as
the development of the rich valley lands became feasible,
these hardy pioneers built large plantations and brought in
Negro slaves to work and harvest the crops. About 1850, the
county had its first gin, and was fundamentally devoted %o

farming.

3“Origin of Names,® op. cit., p. 1.
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The only recorded crop failure of the pre-Civil War peri-
od was in 1857. This was the year of the severe drought, An
0ld settler and his wife gathered all the corn that grew on
his ten-acre field and tock it home in his wife's aproa to
cook as roasting ears. Despite the drought, stock raising
continued to be important,

Rosertson County, ss well as the entire South suffered
from the labor problem following the Civil War. During the
year after the close of the war 1t was said of the freedmen:

.+« there are many doubts regarding thelr profitable-

nessy they perform about two thirds of what they did

previous to the emanclpation; thelr wages range from

£0 to $1l2 per month, or one third of the crop. 5

In 1870 there was a general report thats

I'reedmen do not improve, but are disposed to be
ldle and improvident. They usually hire for wages,
which are usually $1% per month in coin for the year

and board. 6

With the coming of the railroad in 1869, cotton produe-
tion increased tremendously. In cne day the trains could
easily transport as many bales over the fifty-mile road to

the nearest market as one theousand ox-~teams cculd hanl in

two weeks. In the West, centers for cotton buying grew

L}Imientm:'y“, op. ¢lt., p. 11,
5igg Texas Almanac for 1867, p. 150.
Orpia., p. 145.

7
Rogers, "Calveri," op. ¢it., p. 582.
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rapidly, facilitating marketing of cotton grown in Robert-
son County.8

Numerous rains, some resulting in flocds,gearly proved
serious setbacks to Farming. BEarly in the twentieth century
many acres of excellent farm land along the Brazos River
seemed likely to be ruined by freguent inundations. Just
before the first World War, levee construction was under-
taken along the river banks in Robertson County and much
land was reclaimed.lo

In recent years there have been numerous attempts to
obtain an appropriation to clear the channel of the Brazos
River. 1In so doing it would be made navigable again. The
Brazos River Conservation and Reclamation District was or-
ganized and is considered an important step in this direc-
tion.ll

Brazos Valley Problems
Men like Dick White, Buck Watts, Tite Westbrook,
and the grand old patriarch, Louls W. Carr, the Astins,
Ed and Alf Wilscn, following the lead of the Hearnes

and the Lewises, have made the Brazos bottom a rival
of the Valley of the Nile. 12

8J. L. Waller, "The Overland Cotton Movement, 1866-1886,%

Southwestern Historlcal Quarterly, XXXV (1931-32), 141k,

9Inventory, op. ¢it., p. 1l2.
10

Libid.
11 _
Texas Almanac for 1939-40, p. 136.
12

Warren A. Wilkerson, "History of Hearne," p. 8.
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These bottom farmers hed thelr share of labor troubles.
There were always oo many acres for too few men. The story
of this condition constitules a very serious chapter in the
history of the merchants of Hearne.

In this emergency the farmers made contracts with the
State Prison Board for the labhor of Negro convicts. There
were only a few at first, but as the successful tests were
made, wost of the bottom farms secured them. The pay-rolls
went to the State Prison Department, and many of the supplies
came from the same source. For the first time friction arose
between the merchants of Hearne and the Brazos bottom farm-
ers.

Petitions from the merchants were sent ?he State Of-
ficials, asking that the practice be stopped. H. L. Lewis,
usually a loyal and able worker for his ftown, announced that
he was a candidate for the Legislature. He ran on the plat-
form of "more and cheaper convicts," and was elected. The
contracts were renewed for a number of years and the young
and struggling town of Hearne languished. Finally, however,
the prices for convict labor were raised and since most of the
farm owners had cleared all theilr land, and since there was
no method of employment for the convicts between crops, and
with a full payment required while the men were in the guard

house during inclement weather, the situation cleared itself.
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Following the convici era came good times again. After
the farmers lost their conviet labor other workers had to be
secured from some source., Rasche Hearne solved the problem
in this way: with one of the managers, he went to North Caro-
lina and recruited a train load of farm laborers. This was
continued for several trips with the labor and expenses
being prorated among all the farmers,

This was an excellent "set-up® for the Texas end of the
route, but a bit disturbing to the people of North Carclina
when they found that they were losing their laborers. Rasche
Hearne discontinued the practice after members of a vigi-
lance committee walked him out of Noarth Carolina between
suns.

Alabama experienced the same practice, until the shortage
of labor was overcome in the Brazos bottom. Today if you hap-
pen to ask an elderly Negro if he were born in Texas, he will
very likely reply, "No, suh, Mr. Hearne fotch me out here
from North Calina."

About the turn of the century labor was plentiful, most
of the land was under culiivation and heavy crops were béing
produced. The harvest from the crops and all the farm sup-
plies had to be hauled over roads freguently impassable, which’
ecreated another problem for the farmers in the bottoms. To
solve this problem the merchants and farmers worked together,
and with able citizens representing the two classes of set-

tlers the condition wag overcome,
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In 1893, the Hearne and Brazos Valley Rallrocad Waé built
from Hearne to Steeles Store in Brazos County; a distance of
sbout sixteen miles. Hearne merchants, headed By men like
H. B. Bagterwood, R. A. Allen, and John Sailors, paid for
their stock in cash, thereby c¢reating a fund that would en-
able the builders to buy rails, tles, bridge materials, and
other needed goods. The farmers pald for their stock with
right-of-way, labor and grading with thelr teams. To avoid
the expense of bridging Little Brazos River, an agreement
was made with the I & G N for the use of thelr tracks over
the river, as well as for the use of their freight cars, and
for the tonnage this rocad would receive from this H& B V,
The H & B V bought and owned outright, one passenger car, one
caboose, and one engine. A dispatcher's office was constructed
where the new ralls began and the conductor was required to
act as the dispatcher. The conductor, of course, was the
logical one who could clear the I & G N when the tracs were
left, and at the same time get orders into Hearne on his re-
turn.

The road was a success from the very beginning and as
it was locally owned it was also an accommodation route. It
made stops at every "turn-row," to mail letters, transact
all types of business, carry out the pay-rolls; it did the
marketing, and delivered ice. A%t first a white face was

automatically a pass, but this had to stop when the Rallroad
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Commission discovered the little sixteen-mile rallroad and
took over. It became the duty of the Commission to regu-
late discrimination in freight rates and passenger tariffs,

On Saturday mornings when the traln pulled intoc Hearne,
colored passengers filled the coach; filled several flat
cars to capaclty; and often ciimbed toc the top of the coach.
On just such an occasion the little train was given a new
name, "Nigger Pacific."

The 1little road filled its well-worth purpose from the
very beginning, in 1891, and did much to help develop the
lower bottom, especially that region around Steeles Store.
Unfortunately for the owners, the Southern Pacific, in 1913,
took a fancy to the short road and in & gub roga manner
bought it for an especially arranged price. Scon after it
changed ownership, the house in which the small engine was
kept was destroyed by fire and the little engine was com-

pletely rulned.

Ploneer Farm Homes
ihe bBottom lands were largely in itimber at this time
with poor drainage and malarial conditions generally pre-
vailing. The botiom was considered no place for a white man
to live,
Rasche Hearne built his home in a large group of oak
trees about five miles ffom the present town of Hearne and

in the comrunity of Sutten. In this typical farm home the
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man of the house added much tc the natural besuty of his
home and grounds by placing Iimported shrubs at vantage
points over his estate. He locked after the yards and dis-
played much interest in the gardens where all types of fruit
trees flourished and every vegetable known to the early set=-
tlers grew in abundance. "I have seen Hasche Hearne cut .
as many as six water melons before getting one to suit him.%3

Pricilla, Rasche Hearne's wife, while leaving the pigs
and cows to her hushand, had every kind of fowl. They were
distributed over the large yards where there were chilckens
of several different kinds, ducks, geese, and & large flock
of peafowl, plus the always nolsy guineas.

Into the making of this home, in the heart of Robert-
son's colony, Rasche Hearne furned to the timbered lands
for his building material., 4 saw mill was set up on his
farm and in this mill he made all hils lumber from prime
cedar logs. Thig typical planter's hcome was a two-story
structure with rooms twenty feet square and containing very
high ceilings. All windows were of cedar made by the car-
penters at the work bench. The walls, ceilings and floors
were tongue and grooved and made with home-made planes at
the bench. The studding was made from cedar saplings squared
on the twe sides to receive the sides and celling and left in

the natural state on the other sides.

Lyarren a. Wilkerson, 808 Magnolia Street, Hearne,
Texas, personal interview.



The studs were fiited intco the heavy plates and were
fastened with ash pins. Every part of the house was cedar,
from the ten by ten squared sills to the shingles on the
roof.

For many years Rasche Hearne was a regular traveler from
nis home to his severzl farms in the bottem and not infre-
quently he would have his weekly pay-roll in the back of his
buggy, and yet he never had a robbery.

After the death of his wife, Rasche Hearne gave up his
Sutton home and moved to cne of his other farms where he
built a fine house. In this second home from an artesian
well he developed natural gas which was used in his house-
hold. However, the old gentleman lived only a few years
after the death of his wife and was never able to forget
his Sutton home. His death closed an eventful 1ife and
left a large estate.

Ebenezer Hearne made hig home in the uplands and was
nearer to his farms. He had to cross Little Brazos River
to supervise the farm work and to this day the place where
he regularly crossed the stream is known as the Ebb Hearne
Ford. The Thenezer Hearne home was not so pretentlous as
the Nasche Hearne home and was gone a number of years be-
fore the Sutton home. Some of the modern homes in Hearne
are decorated with bits of wood from the "old Rasche Hearne

Home," such as a hand rail for the stairway, or molding.
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Today, not a single board from the Ebenszer Hearne
house can be found but near the old house site, there sur-
rounded by an iron fence is the old Hearne cemetery where a
number of Rasche Hearne's children are burled.

A1l arounéd the old Ebengzer Hearne homeslite there are
deep holes that have been made in the red hills by people
searching for buried treasures. The story is as followss

Ebenezer Hearne came to town one day and sold his
segson's coiton crop and got the money in twenty-cdollar
gold pieces. He carried the entire amoung nome with him
and when he got there he took down an inch and a quarter
auger from the porch plate and went into the timber back
of the house. He came back with the auger stained with
red soil. Shortly thereafter he fell dead in his lot
and carried the secret of his gold deposit with him. Many
people with money finders, and some with hunches, have
dug up all the hills thereabouts, but the gold, 1f any,
remains safely hidden. 1k

William Hearne, the only son of Ebenezer Hearne, acquired
hig own farm and made his home on the farm for many years. In
the early 1890's he scld out to his uncle, Rasche Hearne, and

moved to Wharton. He never returned to live in the bottom.

Transportation
In nothing has there heen a greater change in the last
one hundred vears than in the means of travel. The nineteenth
century brought the river steamer, the ocean steamer, the
trains, and the Dbeginning of the interest in the horseless

carriage.

luWilkerson, cp. cites Do 5.
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In the early days of Robertson County, ploneer travel
by land was in the old-fashioned stagecoach; on horseback,
or afoot. The roads were usually execrable. Many of the
towns were wholly without roads; being connected with thelr
neighbors by trails beaten out by the moccasined feet of the
Indians and Indlan traders who traveled these primitive trails
with packs of furs and trading goods on their backs.

4 favorite mode of travel was on horseback. The Robert-
son County farmer, in many cases, went to church astride a
horse with his wife sitting behind him on a cushion, called
a pillionj while the young people walked, often stopping to
change their shoes before ®eaching the meeting~-house. Great
quantities of grain and other farm products were brought from
the settlements in the remote parts of the county on pack
horses, winding their way through the lonely region, by
Indian trails.

The great highways of those pioneers were those that na-
ture had furnished--the rivers and bays. Without these and
the Indian trails the people of the different settlements in
Robertson's colony would have been isolated indeed, and would
scarcely have known of the existence of one another. Even as
it was, only a few ever traveled far from home; the majority
of the common people lived and died in the neighborhocd in
which they settled.

The scarcity and poorness of the roads may have been

either the cause or the effect of the slow resort to wheel
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transportation. Such roads as existed during the garly days
of our county were little more than trails, barely wide
gnough to permit two horses to walk abreast. The stumps of
the trees that had been cut away were often Jjust low énough
to clear the axles.

Throughout the days of its early history, Rohertson
County was located not only on the principal route from San
Antcnio to the East Texas settlement, but also on the course
traveled from thé gulf coast to the rich river bottoms in
east-central Texas. Ox=-carts and covered wagons, on their
way to markets, or bringing familles to the new frontier,
labored along the streets of Cld Franklin and Sterling.15 For
convenience, the populaticn centered along the roads as the
county developed. 014 Franklin, established as the county
seat because the site was near the center of the county, sur-
rendered the courthouse to Wheelock, which was on the 8San
Antonio Road. Over the level prairies to Sterling (Calvert)
the farmers carted their produce and there sold it to team-
sters who hauled it to San Antonio in wagon trains.léﬁenchley,

then called Staggers Point, was on the San Antonio Road, and

17
by 1850, it had become an important community.
15
Iinventory, op. ¢it., p. 12.
16
Foster, "Sterling," op. cit., p. 8.
17

®opigin of Names," op. git., p. 1.
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Whnen ihe first train of the Houston and Texas Central
aailroad came into Robertson County it brought with 1%,
among other things, an official name for Sitaggers FPoint, the
temporary terminus. The Irish settlers agreed that the con-
ductor's name should he adopted as the name of the station.
The conductor was a man by the name of Benchleyé s0 in his
henor the village is still known by that name.l

Despite the fact that the residents had gagerly awaited
the coming of the railroad, when the first train rolled in
norses wheeled and ran, and many farmers did'likewise. W, 5.
4llen, pioneer business man of Calvert, relates the follow-
ing experlencet

It was between Hearne and Bryan that I saw my first
railroad train. I had seen long wagon trains coming
through Port Sullivan enroute to Houston....All produce
was sold in Houston because 1t was the nearest market,
and the best. It sounded wonderful to think that a loco-
motive could cover a distance of fifty miles and carry
loads that a thousand ox-teams could not take in two
wesks. The inhabitants of our county had been compelled
to drag their produce over the level prairies with six-
teen yoke of oxen. Many times the prairies and bottoms
were submerged in water. It was a slow, difficult, un-
certain and expensive method of carriage. HNaturally we
were all watching with interest the laying of the tracks.
1 was riding my pony the day I saw my first train. I
heard this terrible puffing and blowing noise and 1t
frightened me and my horse. He squatted as if ready to
make & wild jump and run away. I put the quirt to him
and got him away from the scene as fast as 1 could, It
was a construction train. The first itrains that came
through Calvert burned wood in the engines, and traveled
twenty miles an. hour. One engine d&id not pull over

18
ibid.
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twenty cars. I can remember when passenger trains did
not run on Sunday as people in those days did not be-
iieve in desecrating the Sabbath by riding on the
train.19

The people of the rural community recognized 1its advan-
tages, but the railroad did not affect their everyday lives
for some time. For years the settlers rode the trains and
shipped their goods during week-days, only.

The towns followed the railroads and resulied in a gen-
eral redistribution of population. The entire town of Ster-
ling moved to meet the rallroad, and even tock on the new name
of Calvert to honor Judge Robert Calvert, who had been instru-

20
mental in getting the railrcads to come into the county. is
the terminus of the rails, Calvert was a busy, thriving fown.
In 1870, it became the county seat.

Its main street was lined with saloons, cowboys,
cotton wagons; and stacks of gold were a common sight

o the tables of the famous gambling houses. This vil-

lage was one of the greatest trading points of the

county. 21

The early 1870C's saw the birth of three towns along the
right-of-way of the Houston and Texas Central Rallroad: Hearne,
Hammond, and Bremond. The International and Creat Northern

gave new life to Franklin, and in 1879, it was voted the per-

22
manent county seat.
19 3 20
Rogers, "Calvert," op. glt., p. 582. Ibid., p.581.
21
Foster, "Sterling," op. ¢it., p. 8.
22

Robers, "Calvert," op. ¢it., p. 581.
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The 01d San Antonio Road which forms the southern border
of Robertson County is now & modern highway. State Highway 6,
which connects Benchley ané Bremond, by a route that passes
through Hearne, forms the main course of north and south motor
travel. From northeast to southwest runs State Highway 43,
linking Basterly, Franklin, and Hearne.

The first vehicle of inland water transportation was, of
course, the Indian canoe. The coming of the white man supple-
mented, but did not replace, the cance by the introduction of
the row boat, keel boat, and barge, or flatboat. The keel
ozt and sometimes flat boats were, at times, propelled by
sails and oars, but more commonly the boatman used long poles,
with which they vushed along agalnst the bottom of the stream.
The cance had the advantage of lightness and being easily
portaged from stream to stream, but its carrying capacity was
small., Therefore, it was not adapted to carrying bulky goods
of low value.

Most of the hauling was in carts or wagons drawn by oxen,
but horses and mules were sometimes used for this werk. Where
navigable, the rivers provided a satisfactory meahs of travel
ané communication, even before the revolution steamboats were
sometimes seen on the lower cuourses of the Brazos, Colorado,
and other Texas rivers.
| The "trip of the Washington® was made in the winter of
185¢9-51. At the time, the father of J. ¥W. McCown was engaged

in business in Cameron. After a paerticularly heavy raln, when
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Little River was considerably swollen and gave promise of
remaining up for several days, he began preparation for the
ascent up the river. He hastily constructed a skiff and put
out for the Prazos country in search of a steamer fto make the
attempt. At Washington, he secured the steamer "yashington,"
owned by John Woods, and commanded By Hatfield, the captain,.
After a bomis of $500 and a guaranteed amount of freight at
stipulated rates, the trip was undertaken with & cargoe of mer-
chandise, comprised of groceries, provisions, and whiskey; The
WWashington® did not excite much interest along the Brazos, but
when Little River was reached the sound of & steam whistle,
never hefore heard in these parts, lnstantly attracted atten-
tion. Curiosity quickened into interest and interest grew in-
to excltement, widespread and prolonged, when it became known
that a real steamer, duly equipped anc fully lozded with mer=-
chandise was in the river making its way to Caneron. Word pass-
ing rapidly from house to house gsent people flocking to the
river hanks from all directions. Curiosity seekers, men,
women, and children, all ages, seXxes, and conditions, in all
stapes of dress, and undress, camne pouring from the settle-

23

ments.

As the Washington puffed and wriggled aleng the
winding stream, dodging a lot of drift-wood here and
clearing a sharp angle there, knots of sight-seers

23
Bogers, "Calvert," op. cit., p. 584.
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would greet it with a great profusion of shouts and
hurrahs, and much waving of wool hats and calico bon-
nets and aprons, Passengers were taken at each stop,
anyone being at liberty to ride, and when stops were
not made some of the more ambltious swam out into the
river on horseback and climbed on the steamer while in
motion. In this way the boat rapidiy filled up until
it came to be a mass of surging, shouting, rollicking
numanity. It stopped when it reached the shoals, abouf
two miles and a half from Cameron, was made fast to a
tree, and in accordance with instruction,s the decks
were cleared and a general jubilee of feasting and
dancing set in. For two days and nights this went on
until all were surfeited with fun and frolle, then the
captain cleared away the debris, turned the nozzle of
the Washington down stream and glided back to the waters
of the Brazos. The event left a lasting impression on
the settlers and its incidents afforded topics for con-
versation for a long time afterward. 2k




CHAPTER VI
EARLY TOWHES

Franklin

Franklin, the present county seat of Roberison County,
was established in 1871, when the International and CGreat
Northern Reilroad surveyed its route across the country. At
that time the struggling little settlement was known as Mor-
gan. For several years Morgan continued to grow, and in 1879,
following an election, the county seat was moved from Calvert
to this new village. The settlers then felt that thelir county
seat must have a post office and an application was made. Be-
fore the application form was filled out it was learned that
Texas already had a post office by that name and ancther name
mist be chosen. The settlers then considered and re-nanmed
the 1ittle town Eraﬂklin.l

In 1882, a stone courthouse replaced the wooden struciure
and by 1885 the town had two steam gristmills, a church, a
school, and a harness and saddle shop.2 4 small wocden bulld-

ing, located on what is now the back street, served as the

1
Thne Handbock of Texas, Vol. I, p. 641.

2
¥Mrs. Emmett Rohde, 305 Barton Street, Hearne, Texas,
personal interview. 6
2
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office and saddle shop. ZElias Reynolds, the first postmaster,
operated the saddle shop 1n conjunction with his duties in
the pcst office.

Tszac 3. Overall's mineral springs, which had its bhe-
ginning in 1890, attracted visitors from many sections of the
state who enjoyed, along with the medicinal value of the
water, the gay, social 1life of the growing village.

The resort hotel was a long wooden structure built, net
tooc much for comfort, but to accommodate the people who came
Wio he made weil." The large garden that jolned the hotel
was a favorite walk for the early evening sirollers and the
fragrance of the many tuberoses filled the air as the young
people walked and talked of things to come. Croguet was the
ravorite recreation on the lawn of the hotel and was enjoyed
by visitors and villagers alike.

The Mitchell Hotel, not as large, and certainly not as
popular as the Overall House, was the principal meeting place
for the men who had time on their hands. Death often stalked
the streets of this early village, and at one time a white man
was shoi and killed by another white man who concealed himself
behind a door of this hotel.

The social 1ife of this early county seat seemed to be
woven around the courthouse. The lawn around this new stone

woilding was the center for the almost regular entertainment

lbid.
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and ice cream suppers. This.form of entertainment provided
funds for civic improvement and also gave the community an
added social hour. The pretty village girls would spend as
much as an entire afternoon working on a fancy apron o wear
while serving ice cream at the supper.

4 very large community Christmas tree, decorated with
home-made ornaments and candles, stood in the largest rcom of
the courthouse. The tree was the highlight of the season of
Christmas for there the old were able to forget the frontiler
troublas for a time and the young thought only of the present.

in this same large room was the setting for the masgked
nalls. Each lady spent many hours in making her dress to wear
st the ball. Often it was decorated with tiny ornaments. The
dancing, to the soft music, lasted well into the morning.

The first school house was a small one-rcom house located
in the eastern part of the present town. This small building
served the village a few years, then a two-story structure was
bullt on a hill in the norithwestern part of the town,

The schoolhouse had two stories, but there were no
partitions to form the room divisions. There were only
two rooms, one upstairs and one downstairs. At one time
sehool turned out so all the pupils could witness a hang-
ing on the courthouse sguare. The memory of the hood
being slipped over the white man's head, the noose fas-
tened on the neck and the fall from the scaffold have

been stamped on my mind all these years. Tt was ter-
rible, and certainly not a program for school children.

L
Ibid.
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Pranklin could net supply the settlers with enough good
water to meet the town's needs. It was gquite a common sight
to see the water wagons hauling water from Race Track Prairie
to the people and selling ti for five cents per bucketful.

The earliest newspaper, The Franklin Weekly, was pub-
lished by J. A. Keigewin. Among the first business houses was
the Decker and Mitchel General Sfora which served the little
commuinity for many years.

The songs of the Civil War had gradually died away to
plaintive whispers; literature, full of adventure and light-
heartedness helped to mend the scarred tissues of men's hearts
and minds; the danger of Indian attacks had passed into the
annals of history; and in the young struggling county seat
many pioneers cast their lots with the destiny of Franklin,

some to fail and some to succeed,

Benchley
In the vears between 1829 and 1834, immigrants, mostly
of Irish descent, settled west of the present town of Bench-
ley.5 They selected the poor wooded land rather than the
rich acres of the black prairie lands for several reasons. In
the dense wooded sections they had easy access to the timber
which enabled them to construct homes and make rails for fenc~

ing their small farms. Thére were many roving tribes of

"Origin of Names," ob. cit., Pe Le
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unfriendly Indians in this section of the state, so the woocds
afforded the settlers more safety. These same woods were well
stécked wlth bear, deer, wild turkey and other game that fur-
nished meat.

Neighbors were many miles apart and little visiting
or social affairs were had among the immigrants. Wives
and mothers looked after the home and reared large fami-
lies of children (unusually large numbers of children are
reported to have been reared in this immediste section
by these immigrants; most all the families had in excess
of twelve children). The men folk of the colony were
engaged in looking after their patches of corn and peas
and scouting for Indians. The women felks were also
trained to take care of themselves and were expert shots
with the rifle which proved a great advantage in later
years as bands of horse thieves would make ralds on the
farms and steal the stock of the colonists. Many inter-
esting and tragic stories are told of these raids. HEs-
pecially is noted the perseverance of the women colonists
during the War for Independence with Mexico when most of
the men and boys were called to Join the troops. They
stayed in their homes and carried on the farm work {and
one old settler remarked that they kept on raising chil-
dren). Benchley lies in the extreme southern part of
Robertson County, only a few hundred yards north of
the Brazos and Roberitson County line and one of the ‘ear
marks' of the town is the Cld San Antonlc Road, which
natives now humorously call 'our prized possession.' At
the beginning of the colony, the ftown was originally
called Staggers Point, and was located about two miles
northeast of the present townsite. The first store wam
a general merchandise store, owned and operated by a
man named Wallace who sold groceries, dry goods and all
kinds of whiskeys and wines. One of the outstanding
things of the old town was the race track and gun club.
This was something nnusual in Texas at this time and
was probably a custom of the colonists in their former
homes. It is saild that many fine horses ran on thisg frack
and the betting became the talk of the state. This
naturally drew much of the rough element, and caused much
horse stealing in this section. A story is told that the
leader of a band of horse thieves came in the gulse of
a minister of the Gospel. He preached to the people
while his band of men would raid the homes. The band was
hidden at Mumford in a dense thicket. A hatile between
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the natives and the thleves broke the band up after

several members of the band of theieves were killed 6

and the remainder of them fled to the eastern states.

In 1850, Robert Henry buillt the first horse-power type
cotton gin. It was run by steam and was bullt near the old
homestead., A saddle tree shop; owned by P. 0. Jones used the
trademark of "P.P." 4 man bv the name of Tallie ran a pack=-
ing house, pickling beeves for which he paid $3.00 per head
for four-year-old steers. These beeves were supplied to the
packers by Columbus Seale, who had a contract to deliver the
cattle dead, but not dressed. At that time the railrcad was
heing pushed alcoag in this direction so the pickled Qeat was
carried south and sold tc the railroad crew.7

The Ireland Church, a log structure, was the first church
to be built and stood near the Haggard home. This name seemed
to fit the members as well as the settlers because they were
all Irish, and were Presbyterians. A4 Presbyterian minister
named Fullenwider was the first minister in the colony. He
was followed by James Wilson, who served the colonists for
the next forty years. "Red Top,"™ as the second church was
called, was built for a school house. Many different re-

ligious organizations were born in this school house as it

served as a meeting place for many years.

6"Origin of Namesg," op. gif., p. 1.
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Fannie Reese Pugh, Geanie Chatam, Kitty Barnes and Bertha
Cook were listed as some of the first teachers in Benchley.
So long as a child cared to attend the school these teachers
worked. At that time grades were not known or recognized by
the teachers.

In 1869, the Houston and Texas Central, later nicknamed
by the old settlers as wHellon Texas," reached Benchley. In
a small wooden siructure ten feet by twelve feet, the tele-
graph station, and the telegraph equipment was installed.
The firast operator was & man named Squires who was also the
station master. After the station was built it had no name,
so ag the first freight train pulled in the conductor, Bench-
ley, a very likeable man, was to be honored by having the
“town carry his name.

A puﬁp gtation which was supplied by water from a "dug
well," with a large wooden tank was installed and operated
for several years. Many years ago the rallroad company gave
up as useless the station and water service. Now, only a
telephone booth marks the station at this place.10

On October 16, 1835, William Henry, the first white
child born in Robertson County, was borﬁ in Benchley, The

_ . 11
spot is now being made into a park which will bear his name.

9 10
Ibid. - Thid.
11

Ibid.
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Calvert

Back in the ante-bellum days when the Brazos bottom was
a free range and the wild cattle roamed the prairies; wheﬁ
school-houses were considered a novelty in Texas, and the set-
+lers were scattered sparingly over the hunter's paradise;
when the chief business in Central Texas was that of driving
heaf cattle from the interior of Texas to New Crleans and
other markets only a few years after Robertson County had been
sliced off Milam Land District, Judge Robert Calvertand his
wife, Mary Keesee, settled in Robertson County.12

Sterling was one of the most interesting and aristocratic
cf the pre-Civil War settlements in Texas. Glowing accounts
of this new land of promise, its healthful climate, fertile
s0il and abundance of game were given by the settlers as they
wrote to their friends in the States. The lure of the land
spread rapidly and the planters in Mississippi, Louislana,
and other states were anxious to dispose of their property
and seek their fortunes in the new country.lB One of these
eager planters writes:

T am winding up my affairs with reference to
coming out o your wonderful land of sunshine and

flowers.... I have sold my farm, and I sold Bill
Carter for $1,200 as he could not find a woman to

12
Rogers, "Calvert," op. ¢it., Pp. 582.

13

Foster, Sterling," op. gik., P. 10,
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suit him for a wife so I concluded to let him go. 1
feel that you planters in Texas would do well to in-
vest less in Negroes and more in cattle, for I foresee
trouble ahead for our country if a Black Republican

is elected, as he is sure to be. I am planning to take

the new railroad cars to New QOrleans, and thence set

saill for Calveston, Viesca, or Indianola.ll

Many years before and during the Civil War a prosperous,
refined and independent community life was established. In
1869, the eagerly awalted Texas Central pushed up from its
terminus at Millican and the village threw aside its dignity
and moved in a group to meet the railroad. The village vas
renamced for Robert Calvert, & judge, who was one of its

15
promoiers.

Robert Calvert was a direct descendant of Ceeil Calvert
(Lord Baltimore), and with the same view into the future that
preompted him to settle in the Brazos hottom he worked for the
extension of the Houston and Texas Central Railway through
his county. He served as contractor in connection with
William Davig and William Hanna. In this capacity he graded
several miles of that road.

The wife of J. W, Doremus, of Dallas and Calvert,still
owns and operates the old Calvert plantation at the original

site of the village; her title is in the form of a land grant

14 15
thid. ihid.

[0 o

16
Sogers, "Calvert," op. cit., p. 583.
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from the Spanish Government in 1825, She is the great-grand-
daughter of Robert Calvert.

Included in the list of prominent Texans who lived in
Calbert, or in the nearby Brazos bottom on the plantations
were the Hearne and Aldrich families, now living in Dallas,
.C. P. Balters, J, M, Herndon, and the late Jesse McLendon of
Waco, who with Foster, a doctocr, established the first bank

1
in Calvert in 1869. 4
Ox~drawn wagon trains plied regularly from Ster-
ling to San Antonio by way of Wheelock and El Camino
Real and to Houston and Galveston with consignments
of cotton, returning with a year's supply of sugar,
flour, coffee, and bagging and rope for cotton.l8
The one and only street of Calvert hoasted

several thriving merchandising stores, a Masonic

Lodge-~one of the first in Texas--and (01ld Man Reed's 19

saloon was a popular gathering place for the cltizenry.

On July 5, 1869, an election for the incorporation of
Calvert was defeated, but in the ordered election of July 2k,
1869, the returns showed a majority for incorporation. after
considering the matter Ellison, the County Judge, ordered
the town incorporated August 13, 1869.

The sanitary conditions were very bad in the early days
of Calvert. The hogs bedded under the stores and the cattle

roamed at will over the town.

17
Foster, “Sterling," op. cit., p. 8.

18 19
2bid. Lbid.
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Scott Flelds, in recallling the early days, remembers
that Calvert had the distinction of having the largest cot-
ton gin in the world. John H. Gibson built the gin in 1876,
Later his sons tock the business in charge and enlarged it,
It had twenty-one stands and an oil mill in connection with
the gin. Farmers from all parts of the Brazos bettom brought
their cotton to be ginned and sold. In 1882 there were
32,000 bales received.zo

The people of Robertson County found it no easy matter
to locate a county seat. Franklin was chosen in 1838, after
the county was organized. By the time the courithouse and
jall had been completed an election was held and Wheelock was
designated to be the seat of the county government., In 1854,
Robert Calvert was one of the commissioners appointed ot ob-
tain, from the District Surveyor, a certificate giving the
the exact center of the county. The same commlssioners
selected two or more places within five miles of the center
of Rdbertson County for another seat. Owensville was chosen
and a courthouse and jail were built. In 1870, the county
seat was moved to Calvert where it remained for about ten
vears, or until an election was held and the people of the

county voted to move the county seat to Morgan.

20
Robers, "Calvert," gp. cit., p. 582.



73

In 1871, a man by the name of Conitz left his home in
Germany and settled in Calvert. He established fthe first
shop and sold the faney boots of ¥rench calf with quilted
Morocco tops to the cowboys who paid fifteen and twenty dol-
ars per pair for them,

This peaceful little village was the greatest trading
point in this section of the state and was given a great set-
back when yellow fever almost wiped out the entire settlement.

The cattle industry passed, the Indigns left the vicinity
of Calvert, and the ploneers have left their ranks to be
filled by their children and grand-children. In the space of
a few years the strange and wonderful stories of pioneer days
will be heard no more from those true builders of civilizaé
tion. Robert Calvert's town lived on while Owensville and
Wheelock perished. When Calvert died in 1867, he left his

21
name for a gulding light of courage, vision, and progress.

Hearne
Few Hearne cltizens who reside in the fertile, highly
improved section of the great state of Texas today, realize
that a stirring saga of pioneer times may be recounted in
the early days of Hearne.
The first seed for the present town was sown sometime

in the 1830's when a stage coach line, operating from the

21
Rogers, "Calvert,"™ op. git., p. 58k.
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site of the present c¢ity of Houston, ran through this section
to North Texas. For the convenience of the passengers of
this stage line an inn was opened by an early settler by the
name of Code Brown. This inn was bullt at Brown Springs in
the present city limits of Hearne and was known as Brown's
Tavern.

Hearne had its beginning in a &ueerlway. The original
Hearnes acquired probably 10,000 acres of pottom land and as
they brought more and more of it under cultivation the moving
of the crops and the getting of supplies became a great handi-
cap, and kept teams on the road from Houston continuously. So,
when the rumor of an intended railroad from Scuth Texas to
North Texas seemed substantial, C. C. Hearne went to Houston
to see the Houston and Texas Central promoters. He informed
them that if they would give him a shipping station, anywhere
between Wheelock and Port Sullivan, he would donate all the
land that was needed.

His offer wag accepted and he was glven the promise of
not only the shipping point, but that a townsite would be lo-
cated and would bear the name of Hearne. So, Hearne as a
theory came into existence, but as a reality, nothing re-
sulted for many years. The Houston and Texas Central did
really begin to builld but sfter reaching Millican, in Brazos
County, was stopped at the outbreak of the Civil War and for

a few years therecafter.
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During this time C. €, Hearne had died but his wife, Mary
Ellen Hearne, made good her husband's agreement with the rail-
road and deeded to the company about seven hundred acres for
the townsite.

With definite plansg for the construction of the railroad
toward the proposed town, setilers began to locate near the
gite and several businesses got in on the ground floor.

Franceg Hearne, who had married her cousin, Wash Hearne,
lived in the early days in Hearne, where they owned the first
hotel to be erected in the town. Wash Hearne was a great
hunter and the following story was teld by an old cltizent

In the first of the rallroad days this man's family
moved into the new town, shipping their household goods
by ralil. On arrival the family found a housing shortage
and the railroad agent permitted them to occupy the car
which contained their effects. The narrator, a& young
man at that time, was awakened very early next morning
by a pack of hounds in full ery. From the top of his
car he saw a big buck come bounding out of the timber,
with the dogs close at his heels, and a rider following.

The chase headed for one of the stores which was just

opening for the day, and with no time to spare to make a

turn, the buck bolted into the front door of the store

and out at the back door. In a very few nminutes the
buck was the hunter's meat, and the hunter was Wash

Hearne, procuring the main staple for his hotel menu, 22
Wash Hearne, his wife and her sister, Adeline Lewis, are the
only members of the Hearne families to be buried in the

city's FHorwood cemetery.

22
Warren W. Wilkerson, "History," gp. g¢it., p. 5.
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Charles Lewis and his son opened up a general store and
Adams and Leonard, sons-in-law of Rasche and Ebenezer Hearne,
opened a private bank. Later they followed the railroad up
the line to Dallas. Gidecn Wilkerson, with Greenwood 3rown,
a local landowner, established the general supply firm of
Brown and Wilkerson. This firm was very actiée in business
as well z8 in civic life in the Infancy of this communiﬁy.

Gideon Wilkerson brought his young wife to Hearne on the
first train that passed through Calvert. To this couple,
later was born the first child to claim Hearne nativity. This
son was given the name of Lorenzo Wilkerson.

Just befcre, and during the Civil War a meat packery of
considerable size operated a few miles south of the preéent
town of Hearne. In this packery as many as three hundred
beeves vwere handled daily. The finished product was pickled
beef, packed in brine. Evidently, there was a miscarfiage
in the formula, for one large cargo bound for Europe, and
wnich had been smuggled out of Galveston, went bad on the ,
high seas and haé to be jettisoned. This loss proved too
much for the packery and it had to cease operation.

With the coming of the railroad more farm land was opened
up and induetries, in a small way, began to come inte the
frontier town. The construction of the railrcad brought
many working men into town and a bit of a boom appeared to

be on. Fractically sll the rallroad workmen were *Irish
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Paddies," and were of the Catholic faith. The Catholle set-

tlers, in the interest of their fellow churchmen established

a hospital on what is now the east side of town, and arranged
for church services for those of that faith.

The other scattered denominations ralsed a fund and
erected a unicn church in the soﬁthern part of town. If that
building were standing today it would occupy the site of the
Boguskie home on the corner of Brenken and Post Qak streets.
The building was used for a number of years by the churches,
with the second story affording a meeting place for the
Masonic Lodge. As the town moved north to afford the con-
veniences of the railroads the union church building was moved
to the present location, on the corner of Magholia and Davis
streets., This same building was also used as the school-
house as the little settlement grew and\prospered.

When the raillroad trustees accepted the townsite grant
their titles were on the same basis as were those of the
garly Hearnes and other purchasers; therefore, years passed
before a long series of sults invelving the irustees, along
with the others, were definitely settled.

The planning of the town of Hearne was in charge of the
New York and Texas Land Company and shortly after the town-
site was laid out two lots were donated to each church denoml-
nation. The members of each church were granted the privilege

of choosing the location upen which they would erect their
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house of worship. The company also donated a cemetery site
of approximately ten acres and which at the present time
is known as Norwood Cemetery. The Episcopalians were the
first to erect their building, with the cther churches build-
ing shortly thereafter. One of the early Methodist pastors,
Seth Ward, was later named bishop of his church.

ifter the completion of the railroad and the workmen had
moved elsewhere, there was little need for the railroad hos-
pital. To fulfill a greater need it was converted into a
church for the Negroes. At about this time there was a mass
migration of the Negroes into Kansas. Thousands made the trek,
and many died because they could not live through the bitter
cold weather. The need for this church arose when a group of
Negroés from Grimes County reached this little village before
learning of the cold weather on the other end of thelr journey.
They decided against continuing the trip and found work in
the vicinity of Hearne. It seems quite natural that they
should all remain together; so their church became known as
tThe Little Flock Church.® What remains of the original
building now is a small church located on the opposite side of
town from the first site. It was moved twice before its
present location and is still known as "The Little Flock
Church."

About 1870, another railroad began negotiations for land

grants to come into this territory and Charles Lewls, scting
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for himself and other land holders, deeded a tract of seven
hundred acres to the Internaticnal and CGreat Northern Raill-
road Company, under the conditions that the company would

have trains operating over the deeded land by January 1, 1872,

The acceptance of the grant involved the new company in
as many title complications as that of the Houston and Texas
Central; therefore, the two railroads combined the forces of
their attorneys, who did an enormous amount of work to make
their jobs a success by bringing about a compromise, and prac-
tically fixed all the titles.

The two railroad companlies then formed the New York and
Texas Land Company, exchanging deeds for their grants. In
making a survey for the addition to the Houston and Texas
Central townsite, the surveyors "got off a bit" with their
instruments and'from this error resulted irregular sireets,

On Davis Street where the townsites meet, the
north and south fail to coincide by about 50 feet.

This makes & very dangerous 'jog' in this auto~

mobile age. 23

With the advent of the new railroad, Hearne appeared to
take on new life. This new road crossed the Houston and
Texas Central about one mile north of the original depot and
business location. It now seemed wise to move the business
section near the crossing. It was well for that is the loca-

tion of the business part of the town today.

23_
lphid., p. 8.
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Time was short for the agreed construction of the Inter-.
national roadway. And again they used the friendly services
of the Houston and Texas Central itrains which brought in
needed supplies and aided in the pushing of the building
poth ways from Hearne.

The heavy pay rolls brought in a horde of camp followers,
- who brought with them their own ideas of ethics. Hearne was
a roaring wide open town. One of the early settilers tells
the following incident:

My father was away from home about this time and

a letter from his office tells him that yesterday was

pay~day for both roads, and the boys whooped it up.

¥hen the sun rose this morning there were four dead

men on the streets. 24

As the town grew there was a demand for telephones, and
agaln Charles Lewis was instrumental in helping the pecple of
his town advance another step forward. J. B. Covington began
making plans for the installation of a telephone system and
- was advised that he was about to mske a bad move and that he
would be able to count his customers on the fingers of his
two hands. He did not take the advice But continued his
project and within a few years he received an offer which
amounted to $10,000.00 in exchange for the telephone system.
He refused the offer at that time.

Education was at a very low ebb at the time Hearne was

struggling with "growing pains," and 1little can be said along

24 :
Libid.
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this line. The first permanent school bﬁilding was a small
two-room béick structure located immediately back of ihe
present Methodist Church. Later a large frame two~story build-
ing was erected on the plot that is now occupled by the Elemen-
tary School Building., John J. Jennings was the first teacher
in Hearne, and the first schools were all private schools.

The Negro Academy, with H. M. Williams as principal, was one

of the early schools of the county. This institution was

built in Hearne very early, but as the need arcse the academy
grew and was finally moved to a location northeast of town
where 1t grew in importance and was attended by the Negro
students from almost all sections of the state. It burned

to the ground in the 1930's and has never bheen rebullt.

Hearne maintained a steady growth through the latter
part of the nineteenth century, and was a typical "rip-snort-
ing frontier town." Unfortunately the pace set at this time
prevalled for too many years and fitted Hearne into the c¢las~
gification of "Hearne, Hempstead, and Hell." Some of the
scars may remain, but it is gratifying to know the town has
lived over, and outlived, such a record.

The town was incorporated in 1871, and in the following
years has had many ups and downs, but has always been able to
ftyp the downs." Some of the downs came when the Brazos River
flooded the bottome bringing about great destruction; and
others when the cotton pests, at times, inched the faithful

Hearnites nearer the poorhouse. Yet, the people lived and

prospered.
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Much of the credit of the steady development of Hearne
in the early days is due to the splendid pioneer leaders of
that time. Many d escendants of the early day Hearne citizens

are prominent townsmen of the little city today.

Wheelock

In 1833, E. L. R. Wheelock and his family crossed the
wilds of unclaimed territory to settle in the central part of
Texas. Wheelock received a land grant from the Nashville
Company in Sterling C. Robertson's colony and settled his
claim on Wheelock Prairie, which was named for those hardy
pioneers. He laid out the town and built a blockhouse for pro=-
tection against the Indians, who confinued tc raid the settle-
ments until 1843,

Cther families followed the example of the Wheelocka and
within a few years there were several famiiies living in the
little community. The children of the settlement grew up un-
der many hardships, including the constant fear of Indians and
the tyranny of the Mexican government which was in control of
Texas at that time.

After Texas began to fight for her independence and after
Santa Anna seemed to have all the advantages, the people packed
their few possessions and fled the pakh of the oncoming Mexican
invaders. Annetie Wheelock was one of the four children of the

Wheelock founder, and was eighteen years of age when she and
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her family joined those who were fleeing toward Loulsiana.
This famous incident has since been known as the "Runaway
Serape.t |

Before the Wheelocks left on this journey a Negro servant
buried a large trunk containing all the family's valuables.
The mother and daughter carefully'packed away all the gold,
silver, and china, and even the rich linens which would some
day belong to Annette. There was no room in the covered wagon
for the trunk where space was so valuable, |

Tn their haste to leave Wheelock, the family had neglected
to mark the location where they had hidden their valuables.
4fter Santa Anna's defeat they returned to their home and
searched and searched for the buried treasure, but their ef-
forts were futile. In spite of their great misfortune they
were able to rejoice with all Texas.

Annette Wheelock experienced more in a few short years
than most people do in a 1life time. When she was eighteen she
married an elderly Virginian who lived only a few weeks., In
a few years she married again for she was sti1l young and
lovely. This marriage lasted about one jyear as her husband,
named Powell, was mortally wounded when he and a small band of
settlers were ambushed by the Indians between Calvert and Mar-
1in. He was buried on the banks of the Brazos River near the
present town of Marlin.

Annette later married Samuel B. Killough, a wealthy young

man, who in a few years became & member of the Texas
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Legislature. In 1876, Annette became a widow for the third
time when Sam Killough died. 8She lived 2 long and useful
1life ané died at the age of eighty-nine.25

Under the leadership of Wheelock and other sturdy men of
Robertson County, Wheelock grew and served as the county seat
fpom 1850 through 1854, The courthouse was not bullt until
1851; therefore, the court had to meet under an oak tree un-
til its completion. In 184%7, a postoffice was established and
by 1850, the Wheelock Academy was in operation. By 1885, the
1ittle settlement had a population of seventy-nine, a store,
a gristmill, and a cotton gin. By the time the next five
years had passed the population had grown to eighty-five and
there were three churches. The mall was received by stage
from Hearne and a bank had been established by 1915.26

Into this rural settlement in Robertson County came the
Eearnes, under the leadership of Christopher Columbus Hearne.
They came bringing with them thelr household goods, farming
equipment, livestock and a goodly number of Negro slaves.
The leader of the Alabsma Hearnes, C. C. Eearne, purchased
land in the vicinity of Wheelock and with his Negro slaves

made and burned the bricks that went into the congtruction of

a commodious home. This home became the headquarters for the

25
leonard, ¢p. ¢it., p. 5.

26
Handbook, 1I, op. git., p. 893.
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entire Hearne family while the members were searching for
sultable locations.

The Hearnes were real farmers and knew that this section
of the state held the land that they wished to own. Through
¢. C. Hearne they acquired a large acreage of the Ruiz bottom
land from the Rhody Kenneday heirs. They were aware of the
conflict that had existed among the other purchasers and pro-
tected themselves as well as possible by contracts instead of
deeds.

C. C. Hearne lived and died at his home in Wheelock, but
Rasche and Ebenezer, while owning large holdings in the bottom,

built their homes in the uplands east of the Brazos River.

New Baden

The colony of New Baden was organized in 1881, as a sta-
tion when the International and Great Northern Rallroad moved
slowly through Robertson County. This community was settled
hy German immigrants who were brought in by the Texas Land
Company. There is no record of how or why the town was called
New Baden, but it 1s generally supposed to have been named for
a town or province in Germany where some of the cclonists had
1ived. The first business house in this community was owned
and operated by Paul Schultz and his mother.

When the colonists were first settled in New Baden they
all lived in the "Immigrant House." As farms were located and

homes were built ithe colonists would leave the "iouse™ for
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their new homes. The population numbered only foriy in 1885,
and by 1915 there were only one hundred seventy~five., The
post office was discontinued inm 1900, and was not re~estab-

1ished until more than twenty years later.

Bremond

Bremond, in the northeastern part of the county, was
so named in honor of Paul Bremond, an official of the Houston
and Texas Central Railroad which reached the little village
in 1869, In 1870, the town became the junction point for the
Waco Tap Railroad. In the late 1870's Bremond became the
neadguarters for extensive Polish immigration which accounts
for the fact that today the town is predominantly Polish.

By 1885 the town had four churches, three schools, four
mills and gins, and one bank. The first postmaster to serve
the people in Bremond was C. C. Morehead.

The population began to fall and in 1890 numbered only
three hundred eighty-seven, but had risen to six huﬁdred fifty
in the next ten years.

In 1912, the Bremond Enterprise was published hy 5. P,

Forrest.

27

"Opigin of Names,™ gp. cilt., p. 1.



87

Mumford
Tn the heart of the Brazos Valley and in the southeast
corner, Mumford is firmly settled. This village was estab-
lished in 1867 and named for Jesse Mumford.
In 1885 there were only fifty people in the community
which consisted of a post office, with William Bailey as the

first postmaster, a gin and a general store.

Petteway

In the early 1880's, M. Petteway settled in northeastern
Robertson County and opened a general store. Around this store
a community grew up. 8. Bartokowiak erected the first gin,
and soon there were three churches, and a school, which vas a
small two-story building with only two rooms. The community
cemetery is today one of the few in the rural communities
that has continued to remain there in the church yard. HMany
descendants of the early Petteway settlers bury thelr loved
ones in the well-kept cemetery. ‘

In 1900 Petteway was granted the right to have a post
office. Until that time all the malil was received from

Franklin.

Basterly
Easterly, located in the east central part of the county

was named for Dan Easterly who owned the entire townsite and

Ibid.
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who operated the only store in the settlement. In April,
1902, John Fulbright surveyed the townsite on the International
and Great Northern Rallroad.

In 1900, the population numbered twenty-five, but after
a land boom in the early 1900's there were around seven hun-
dred people in the community. Today, there are four businesses,
a school, a church, and a population of approximately two

nundred Tifty.

Ghost Towns

Wooten Wells.--Over seventy years ago the flowling min-
eral water resort town in the northwest corner of Robertson
County attracted throngs of patients and celebrities from
over the entire South., Today, this ghost town of Wooten
Wells has vanished without a trace and has left no place,
even for the ghosts.

Where the 2 and 3~gtory hotels, the cottages, the

general stores, the billiard hall, and the canopled min-

eral wells, which brought on the boom, once stood is 30

today another of the endless pieces of level farumlands

About 1879, a farmer drilled a water well. After he

discovered the water had & peculiar taste he had it analyzed

and was advised that it probably contained medic¢inal gualities.

29
HandbOC)k, z’ ’mn m., p- 537!

30
Thomas Turner, "Early Health Resort Lives Only in
Memory," Dallas Mornine News, February 17, 1948, p. 6.
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A modest advertising campaign followed and a&s no one
seened to get excited agbout the strange-tasting water, prog-
ress was slow. In 1881 ondy one house stood on the two
hundred acre site, which later hecame the popular meeting
place for the sick and well alike. By 1883, the resort had
been named Wooten Wells after F. M. Wootén, cne of the
founders.

Probably the state's first big real estate boom began as
the tale of the new spring spread. Almost over night it be-
came & sprawling city with three large hotels, a narrow-gauge
mule drawn rallway, Western Union and Wells Fargo offices,
hath houses, dry goods and drug stores, dance pavilions and
dozens of cottages.

The new ¢ackson Hotel was the largest of the three hotels
in Robertson County's vanished resort town. It had fashion-
able gables on all four roofs, and the daughters of James
Hogg, Ima and Ura, always stayed in this big hotel when they
were on one of their many visits to the wells. The Woot#n
Hotel was a two-story Le-shaped, rambling builéing and the.
third was the Walker Hotel.

At the boom's peak, Wooten Wells was a gay soclal
center, ccmplete with elaborate dances and balls, and

a Mexlcan string orchestra that played soft music am it

paraded through the many wooded parks. Coal oil lamps,

in heavy glass protectors, decorated the street
corners. 31
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Saruel L. Hornbeck, the school principal, was one of the
boom town's first leaders. Edward McGlaun started the flrst
grist mill and gin; Charles E. Mays was the resort ftown's doc-
tor and R. 8. Sloan and George W. Jackson operated the hotels.
William Goodman was wagon maker for the noted spa and T. W.
Wade was manager for the Wells Fargo Company. C. W. Higgin-
bhotham owned the billiard hall and Alonzo Walker operated a
general store, and another man whose name was Walker was keeper
of one of the saloons. Willis Martin, at one time assistant
postmaster at the resort postoffice, helped drive the rail-
way mule in the spring and summer when the business was rﬁsh-
ing. Many old settlers can remember when thousands of pecple
came each seascon to bathe in the icy waters or to camp near
the park.

As a new well was being drilled to supplement the founr
main wells, traces of oil were found. At that time oil was
cheap--ten cents per barrel--and when Wade, who was manager
of the mineral water company, saw visions of the cheap oil
flowing under the houses and becoming a fire hazard, and
spoiling all the flowers, he had the well closed.

There were two things that led to the doom of the resort.
First, fire destroyed one of the main hotels and continued
to plague the settlement; which had practically no fire-
fighting facilities., Second, mineral water of a different

type, which was claimed to be better, was found at Marlin
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in 1890, Marlin's water had a psychological advantage; it
was hot while the water at Wooten Wells was so cold that 1%
had to be set aside to warm after it had been drawn from the
well which was eighty feet deep.

Wooten Wells, the noted spa of Robertson County, slowly
dwindled away until only a few ramshackle buildings remained.
These slowly disappeared fco, and as late as 1923 a bottling
firm tried to revive the springs for use in soft drinks but
the venture was not succesgsful. The‘building, which had been
erected for this project burned later.

Not a single board of the million-dollar resort,
which once sealed up a possible o0ill well to save the
mineral water business, is left, except in the memories
of some of the old-timers around Bremond. 32
Bald Prairie.--This early settlement, located on a prai-

rie between Duck and Steele Creeks, and twelve miles east of
the present town of Bremond was established in 1865. The lo-
cation of the settlement readily pave it the name ang by 1885,
there was a population of one hundred. It listed a steam
cotton gin and gristmill, two churches, a school, a store, and
a postoffice with J. C. Jennings as the first postmaster. With
the growth of the towns along the railroads, this little vil-
lage grew less in value. In the early 1940's there was a

33

postoffice, a store, and a populatlion of about twenty-five.

ibid.

33Handbook, I, op. cit., p. 102.
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Hammond.-~This ghost community and discontinued post
office in northwesterrn Robertson County was named for F. B.
Hammond. The town was small and had only a few stores and
business houses, and the small jail, which seemed to be an
important part of the town, is still standing today. As the
Houston and Texas Central Railroad gradually pushed farther
north the 1ittle town became an important shipping point.

F. A. Rice, W. J. Hudson, and A, Groesbeck were the first
trustees to function in the small farming district school.3h

Headsyville.--In the late 187C's Headsville was estab-

lished and by 1880 had received a postoffice. In 1885, J. &.
Adams opened his general store and served as postmaster at
the same time. A%t that time the population was only thirty%s
In 1910, the postoifice sas discontinued and the mall
was sent first to Kosse, and later to Bald Prairie. The first
school in the settlement was taught by a young man by the

name of Smith.

Sarahville de Viesca.--Viesca was the capital of Robert-

son's colony in 183%. By 1836, the Brazos River had changed
its course and this settlement at the falls of the river had
three hundred inhabitants. During the Texas Revolution

Viesca was almost deserted hecause the fear of the Mewicans

34
Handbook, I, op. git., p. 790.
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was so great, and %oo, there was the constant danger from
the Indians. ULater efforts were made to restore, or lo re-
settle the town but the effort was in vain and abandoned
shortly.36

Owensville.--4 legislative act, in 1854, e stablished
this settlement =s the county seat of Robertson County. The
little tewn on Walnut Creek, and not far from Franklin re-
mained the center of the county's government until 1870, when
the railroad came through the county and the people declded
that the county seat should be moved to Calvert, on the raill-
road.

The county's first county seat was named for Harrison
Owen, the first county clerk. A townsite was surveyed and a
two-story courthouse was built and remained in use until the
records were moved to Calvert in 1870, to the new county seat.
"he courthouse was sold and moved from the spot on which it
was located and in 1860, the postoffice was discontinued.

Today, some of the lots that were staked off when the
town was laid out can be found, but nething else.

Nashville.--In 1835 a group of settlers bound for Robert-
scn's colony settled about three miles below the mouth of the
Little River, on the Brazos River, in Milam County. In 1837

Rashville was the county seat and principal town. When the

36
Texas Almenac for 1936, op. ¢it., p. 124,
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county seat was established at Cameron, by an act of the
legislature in 1846, Nashville declined. ¥
Many of the settlers who came inio Robertson County were
ameng those who settled at 013 Kashville and was at that time
of the settlement called Robertson County.
Hayes.--In northern Robertson County and sixteen miles
fioptheast of Calvert, Hayes was established in 1872,

The village was named for the first postmaster, A. A.
Hayes. By 1880 the population was only thirty, but in 1885 it
had grown in population and had built three churches, a school,
a gristmill and a cotton gin., After the rallroad missed the
settlement the village seemed to die out, for, by 1900, the
population had decreased 10 twenty. After the ggstoffice

was discontinued the mail was sent to Franklin.

37
Ipid., p. 122.

38
J Hgndbook, I, p. 788,



CHAPTER VII

GOVERNMENTATL ORGANIZATION

1
Robertson County was created in 1837, and organized in

1838,2 with the county commissioners court, consisting of a
county judge and four commissioners, forming the essential
principle of its government structure. Each commissioner rep-
resented one of four commissioners' precinets into which the
county was divided.3 Cf the many diverse functions of the
court, the most important is dealing with finance, taxation,
welfare, public improvements, contracts and elections. The
interrelationship of the various county offices revolving
arcund the court can be fully revealed by brief examinations

of each.

County Commissioners Court
The commissioners court was designated as the custodian
of the county's funds, which may be classified according to
source of origin. The first class 1s set up by the Constitu-

4 5
tion, %he second by statutes, and the third by order of the

lgammel, Laws, I, p. 1398.

®Probake Mimuites, Vol. &4, p. 2.

3tonstitution of 1876, art. V, Sec. 18,

ugggggg Wexas Statubes, Centeanial Bdition, 1936, Art.1628.
5Constitution of 1676, Art., VIII, Sec. 9.
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6

court. It may itransfer money from the statutory funds of
various classifications;7 it directs the treasurer to make dis-~
bursements;S it may, for certain purposes, issue non-negotiable
interest-bearing county warrants, independently of the voter's
approval: it must approve claims against the oounty;9 it su-
pervises the finance 1edger;lgit receives reports of collection
and financial condition of the ccunty;lland it may use public
accountants "to audit all or part of the books, records, or

12
sccounts® of the county.

County Clerk
Ones of the first offices in the group which composes
Rovertson County's first governmental organization was the
county clerk. During a six-year periocd this office was dlg~-
continued in 1869, by the Constitution, and %?e district

clerks were the recorders of Texas counties; with this ex~

ception, the county clerk has always served in that capacity.

6_1;9;:,,@., Art. 1629. 7;,[_3;_,,1,,_@,., Art., 1630.
8;,@,;@., art. 1709,

9Vernon‘s Texas Statutes, Art. 2351,

YOrpid., art. 1607. ll;,p_:;g_., Art. 1665,
121014, Art. 16u1.

13

Constitution of 1869, Art. V, Sec. 9.
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Districﬁ Court

& district court was established in Hobertson County
when it was created in 183?,15and the minutes date from
Cctober 1, 1838, The district courts in Texas have always
been the superlor of general original jurisdiction.16

The district court of the 85th judicial district is pre-
sided over by a district judge elected for a term of four
years, by the voters of the district--Robertscn and Braios
Counties.’ Other offices of the court are the district clerk,
who is elected by the voters of the district at each biennial
general election,l8the sheriff,lgand the county attorﬁey,

County Court

in inferior trial court called the county court was es-
tablished in Robertson County when it was organized in 1835?
With the exception of two brief periods when this tribunal was
discontinued by general law during the first two years of
statehood, 1846-1848, jurisdiction in probate matiers was

21
vegsted in a special probate court.

Loacts 1837, Gammel, Laws of Texas, I, p. 1398.
1600nstitution of 1836, Art. IV, Sec. 3.
Y 7yernon's Texas Statutes, Art. 199.

1

Al BT

0
2 Constitution of 1836, Art. IV., Sec. 10.

2L pets 1846, Gammel, Laws of Texas, II, p. 161k,
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The county is served by the county judge, who, in turn,
is aided by the sheriff, the clerk of the court, and the

county attorney.

Justice of the Peace

Since the organization of Robertson County in 1838, jus-
tices of the peace have held offices in thelr respective
precincts.

The justice, a public officer of the township, was elected
in each precinct. The early justice of the peace was endowed
with judicial powers for the purpose of preventing breaches
of the peace and bringing to punishmeni those who violated

minor laws.

County Attorney
Robertson County's first county attorney was appointed
by the governing board in February, 1867. 3 In 1871, the of~-
fice was abolished by the board but was re-established as an
" elective one in 1876, and Hobertson County's first elected

2k
county attorney took office in April of that year.

22

Constitution of 1836, Art. IV, Sec. lZ2.
23

Constitution of 1866, 4rt. IV., Sec. 16.
2k

Commissicners Court Minutes, Vel. III, p. 13.
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Sheriff
The office of sheriff has been filled continuously since
the creation of that office in Robertson Countyts first gov-
ernmental organization that was worked out.25
Specifically, the sheriff was charged with the gsafe keep~
ing of prisoners and juries, and with the prevention of the
breaches of peace. He attended courts as chief administrative
of fiter and executed their judgment. When a warrant attach-
ment was issued it was his &uty to seize the property attached.
If judgment was rendered against a debtor the sheriff was the
of ficer empowered to seize his property and sell it to satisfy
elaims of the creditors. He could perform these duties in
person or through an authorized deputy sheriff,
The sheriff was the county's chief conserver of the
peace and process officer, the custodian of the jail, and of
the courthouse.26
Constable
4 constable gualified in Robertson County in April,

27
1838, and the office has been filled in each precinct since

25
Ibid.

26
Vernon's Texas Statutes, &ris. 2022, 2333 2346,
2400, 2401, 6B73. ’ ’ ’

27
constitution of 1836, Art. IV, Sec. 12,
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28
the creation of the office. The early constable not only

enforced the laws, made arrests and imprisdnments, but had
the right of search and authority to execute processes.

There was no uniformity in the duties of the constable, but
in the early days of the county the office was of high im-

portance.

Declining Opganizations

County board of school trustees.--In 1840, an act was

passed granting lands from public domain to the several
counties fér educational purposes. Texas'first school law
placed the public free school under the governmental super-
vision of the chief justice and the fwo assoclate justices,
as a board of commissioners.29 The management of the county
schools became the responsibility of the governing court in
1845,30 and so remained until 1873, when it passed to a sepa~-
rate board of school directors. * The hoard of directors was
abolished in 1876, and until 1911, duties involved in the
supervision of county schools were divlided between the county

32
judge and the commissiocners court.

QSCGnstitution,of 1845, Art. IV, Sec. 19.

29Acts of 1840, Gammel, Laws of Texas, II, p. 320.

3°1pi¢., p. 1156,
31

32
Acts of 1876, Gammel,

-
2
=
0
o)
=

Acts of 1873, Gammel, Texas, VII, p. 540.

)
£
2
[s]
-

of Texas, VIII, p. 1935.
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County school superintendent.--When the president of the
board of school directors became ex~officlo superintendent in
1873, the county provided for the count school superintenden%%

The bosrd was abclished in 1876, and the county judge be-
came ex~offiecio school superintendent.3br Robertson County's
first full-time superintendent took office in 1891, under
provisions of an act of 1887, authorizing the commissioners
court to call an election to £ill the office, at its discre-
tion.35 His function varied from supervision of local author=-
ities in the majority of cases to actual authority over a
centralized county school system.

Coroner.-~The office of coroner was created 1in 1836 by
an act which required the election in each county of one
coroner to hold office for twoc years. It was the duty of the
coroner to hold inguests in all cases of viodlent and sudden
death in the county which came to his knowledge. When there
was a vacancy in the office of the sheriff, or when the
sheriff was disqualified %o act in a particular case, the
coroner could perform the duties of the sheriff. Coroners

were usually paid by fees rather than by fixed salaries, and

3
Acts of 1873, Gammel, Laws of Texas, VII, p. 540.

X
=
@
Y

b
hdets of 1876, Gammel, exas, VIII, p. 1035.

35
hets of 1836, Gammel, Laws of Zezas, I, pp. 1243-L45,
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in many cases they had no knowledge of medicine which would
gualify them to determine the cause of death. This office
was discontinued in 1869 when the justice of the peace he-
came the ex-officio coroner.36

Inspector of hides ané¢ animals.--In 1871, a law was
passed for the protection of stock raisers and designed to
prevent the illegal slaughter, sale or removal of livestock
from the county. It was amended in 1876, and made each
county an inspection district. The office was abolished
in 1933,

County surveyor.-~The office of county surveyor was
38

. 39
created in 1837,” and was made elective in 1840, On Feb~
ruary 6, 1838, a county surveyor qualified in Robertson
County, iﬂd records of service extend as far back as March

25, 1838,

36 |
Constitution of 1869, Art. V, Sec. 20.

Acts of 1871, Gammel, Laws of Texas, VI, p. 1014
Acts of 1876, Gammel, Laws of Texas, VIII, p. 1131.
38
Acts of 1837, Gammel, Laws of Texas, I, p. 1406,
9
icts of 1840, Gammel, Laws of Texas, II, p. 437.

40
Bond Book, Vol. I, p. 1.
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A Glance Backward

County government today, with its expanding activities
and 1ts antiquated organization, is like a rapidly growing
animal confined in a rigid shell. %The outgrown form, which
successfully met the needs of our forefathers now hampers and
thwarts it at every turn. Today, one of the major problems
of the local government is the revamping and streamlining
of the county in order to make it an effective instrument

for meeting human needs.



CHAPTER VIII
RETROSPECTION AND PROGRESS

Into this New Republic came hardy, courageous settlers,
with perhaps little education and training and little money,
but with high moral standards, great hopes, and determination
to make good. They came Intc a land where only a few years
before the red man roamed at will, unthwarted by the white
man, taking whatever suited his fancy, and leaving little or
no imprint of his life, only relics of his warrior days.

It was no journey for the weak, for in the early days 1%
was & long and weary trek, with disease, outlaw attacks, and
other hardships threatening daily. Only the brave would at-
tempt the migration and only the strong could hope to survive,
Such sturdy manhood and womanhood made up the early ploneers
of Eobertson County.

In the succeeding years of this very old county, many
changes have taken place. The o0ld pioneers who develcped
this section of the country, both farmers and merchants, have
faded from the picture, and in this seemingly short space of
time the county has witnessed their places being filled by a
new generation. In the Brazos bottom, the younger generation,
evidently, lacked the "know-how" of their progenitors. Too,

conditions have changed as the years have passed, bringing

104
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into focus some new and extravagani practiceé. Gradually the
old plantations, containing from 600 to 3,500 acres, hegan to
change hands and the old names began %o disappear from the
tax rolls. The remnants of many old families began to move
tc other paris seeking employment in order that they might
carn their daily bread. The story seems tragic as the fine
old homes graduaily disappear, by fire, by decay and by
wrecking.

The changes have worked to an advantage for the towns.
The plantations of yesterday have been reduced to farms. Many
of the old homes have been replaced by neatl bungalows and are
housing farmers, who diversify their crops, farm with tractors
and other mechanical implements instead of heavy Missouri
mules, use and pay day laborers, and are retiring the "third
and fourth" share croppers whose setilements, according to
the colored idea weres ™"Cught is ought and figger is figger,
3ll for the white and none for the Nigger.“l

There 1s a long chapter of adversities behind the people
of Robertson County, and it would be well if much could be
forgotten. The future of the county is promising, with di-
versified farming, alfalfa--the new money crop--~cattle, and
modern Tarming methods. The most important element in the

minds of the people in the western section of the county is,

1
Wilkerson, op. ¢it., ». 5.
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that the Brazos River, controlled fto remain in 1ts banks,
will just ®"keep rolling along." This very part of the county
1s now the outlet for the modern "Valley of the Hile." It
has all the many fine facilities which could easily make
Sterling C. fobertson feel justly proud of the development of
his timely creation.

Tt was into this land that the sturdy settlers planted
the seeds in the early 1830's. They came to erect honmes,
plant crops and build a new civilization. They built well,
for today can be seen the evidence of their efforts in the
well developed farms, improved highways, modern institutlons,
and thriving towns.

Tn the early development of Robertson County there were
many romantic episodes, colorful'incideﬂts, and stories of
real heroism which have left their merks on the lives of the
pecple. The influences were so diverse that it is almost im-
possible to generalize on the characteristics of the heroic
pioneers who left to the succeeding generations a timely
thought from the lips of an old settler. "y good county in

which to live and not a bad place in which to die.™
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